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Interim reports will be released   
■ on April 5 for the period January–March,
■ on July 5 for the period January–June,
■ and on October 5 for the period January–September 2012. 
All reports will also be published on Industrivärden’s website: 
www.industrivarden.net

See also the section “Stock market information”, page 52.

The Annual Report is distributed to shareholders who have notifi ed the 
Company that they would like to receive it in printed form. Informa-
tion on the 2012 Annual General Meeting can be found on page 53. 

This Annual Report is a translation of the Swedish original.
 

annual General MeetInG 2012

TIMe anD plaCe
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 2 p.m. on Friday, May 4, 2012, 
at the Grand Hotel, Vinterträdgården room (entrance at the corner of 
Stallgatan/Blasieholmsgatan), in Stockholm, Sweden. The doors will 
open at 1 p.m., and registration will take place until 2 p.m., at which time 
the doors will be closed. Coff ee will be served before the Meeting.

WHO Is enTITleD TO paRTICIpaTe?
To be entitled to participate at the Annual General Meeting, shareholders 
must be listed in the shareholder register printed out by Euroclear Sweden 
AB (formerly VPC) on April 27, 2012, and give notice of their intention 
to participate in the Meeting no later than April 27, 2012. 

HOW TO BeCOMe ReGIsTeReD In THe sHaReHOlDeR ReGIsTeR
Shares are registered in the shareholder register maintained by Euroclear 
Sweden in the name of either the owner or the owner’s nominee. Share-
holders who have not arranged to have their shares registered in the 
nominee’s name are registered in their own names. Shareholders whose 
shares are managed by a third party may have chosen to have their shares 
registered in the nominee’s name. In order to be able to participate in the 
Meeting, such shareholders who own nominee-registered shares must 
request in advance that their shares be temporarily registered in their own 
names as per April 27, 2012. Shareholders are advised to contact their 
nominee well in advance before April 27, 2012.

nOTICe OF aTTenDanCe
Notice of intention to participate at the Meeting can be made using one 
of the following alternatives:

 ■ by post to AB Industrivärden (publ), Box 5403, SE-114 84 Stockholm, 
Sweden 

 ■ by phone at +46-8-666 64 00
 ■ by fax at +46-8-661 46 28 
 ■ by e-mail at agm@industrivarden.se, which requires the Company’s 
confi rmation by e-mail (within 24 hours) that notifi cation has been 
registered

 ■ by fi lling in the form on Industrivärden’s website, 
www.industrivarden.net.

Upon notifi cation, shareholders must indicate their:
 ■ name
 ■ national ID number (or corporate registration number)
 ■ complete postal address and phone number
 ■ where applicable: the number of assistants (max. two)

Notifi cations must be received by the Company no later than April 27, 
2012.

pROXIes
Shareholders may exercise their right to participate at the Meeting by 
proxy. Please use the proxy statement provided on the notifi cation form, 
which is available on Industrivärden’s website. Proxy can also be arrang-
ed by providing the application information above for the shareholder as 

well as his/her representative. The proxy statement must also include the 
date and location for signature as well as the shareholder’s signature and 
name printed out. For representation of legal persons by proxy, the proxy 
must be signed by an authorized signatory of the company/organization, 
and a copy of the registration certifi cate, which indicates the company’s/
organization’s authorized signatories, must be attached. Proxy statements 
must be sent in or shown in original.

DIvIDenD
The dividend will be paid to shareholders who are recorded in the share-
holder register on the record date. The Board of Directors proposes May 
9, 2012, as the record date. Provided that the Annual General Meeting 
approves the Board’s proposal, taking into account the so-called three-day 
payment schedule (three business days), this entails that pur chases of 
Industrivärden shares on the day of the AGM, May 4, 2012, will nor-
mally carry rights to the dividend (provided that the pur chase was recor-
ded in the shareholder register on May 9, 2012), and that payment of the 
dividend is expected to take place via Euroclear Sweden on May 14, 2012.

Text: Industrivärden. Design and production: Intellecta Corporate. Photos: Q Image and others. English translation: 
NewStart Communications. Paper: Scandia 2000 White 270g/Galerie Art Silk 130 g. Printing: Ineko
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lonG-terM 
perSpeCtIVe
Price is what you pay today – value is what is created over time. Creating true growth in value requires 
competence, strength and long-term perspective. Building for the future takes time; it has a long invest-
ment horizon over several business cycles and requires ownership responsibility in all market climates.  
A company that has the ability to invest and strengthen its business during times of adversity creates con-
ditions for higher returns in the future. Based on substantial ownership and positions of trust, Industri-
värden contributes to growth in the value of its portfolio companies through long-term active ownership.

With more than 60 years of experience in active ownership, Industrivärden has a unique position in cre-
ating long-term value in listed Nordic companies. The business is based on extensive experience, knowl-
edgeable employees, a strong business model and a large network. The companies in our portfolio are 
leaders in their respective areas and all have strong global positions. With Industrivärden they have a pro-
fessional and active owner – to the benefit of their long-term growth in value as well as Industrivärden’s.

Since its stock market introduction in 1945, Industrivärden’s stock has generated an annual total return 
of 14%, which is well above the market average of 13% for the Stockholm Stock Exchange, which for many 
years has been a strong performer from an international perspective.

GROWTH

Creating long-term growth requires 
strength, perseverance and favorable 
conditions. Through a strong commit-
ment backed by a depth of knowledge 
and experience, Industrivärden actively 
contributes to value growth in its port-
folio companies.

industrivärden
annual report 
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InduStrIVärden CreateS Value 
through active ownership and a professional 
investment operation. Active ownership is 
based on Industrivärden’s model for value cre-
ation in its portfolio companies. The invest-
ment operation is built upon a structured pro-
cess of continuous analysis of existing and 
potential holdings.  

Value CreatIon tHrouGH aCtIVe oWnerSHIp

neT asseT value sek peR sHaRe 

Return index (SIXRX)Total return Industrivärden C
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TOTal ReTuRn

InduStrIVärden IS one of the Nordic region’s leading holding compa-
nies. Its goal is to generate high growth in net asset value over time and 
thereby give the shareholders a total return which, over the long term, is 
higher than the average for the Stockholm Stock Exchange.

InduStrIVärden WaS eStablISHed by Handelsbanken in 1944 as a 
means of distributing the shareholdings it had acquired following the mar-
ket crash in the 1930s to the bank’s shareholders. The business proved to be 
successful and over time evolved into an effective form of managing pension 
capital for employees of Handelsbanken and SCA. Through Industrivärden’s 
proven ability to create sustained shareholder value at a limited cost, its own-
ership has expanded over time to include a large number of public and pri-
vate pension managers. Industrivärden’s stock is also a popular investment 
for foundations and other long-term investors, as well as for a large number 
of private investors. 

sTRaTeGY InvesTMenT CRITeRIa

HOlDInGs
— Mid- and large cap listed Nordic companies.
—  Companies with business models that can be applied in several markets.
— Companies with a good ability to generate growth in cash flow.
— Leading positions in selected market segments.
— Strong potential for growth in value through active ownership.
— Ownership stakes that enable significant influence.

pORTFOlIO
— Fully invested in equities.
— Concentration on a limited number of shareholdings.
— Active ownership with long-term investment horizon.
— Borrowing provides leverage in equities portfolio.

I n d u S t r I V ä r d e n  a t  a  G l a n C e
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lOCal ORIGIns — GlOBal pResenCe

 — The portfolio companies account for slightly more than 1/5 of the Stockholm Stock Exchange’s market capitalization.
— Combined sales of SEK 950 billion, of which 1/3 in emerging markets.
— Operations in more than 180 countries.
— More than 375,000 employees in all.

Sales, SEK billion
Number of employees

nORTH aMeRICa
185
50,000

sOuTH aMeRICa
75
30,000

asIa
175
65,000

WesTeRn euROpe
380
185,000

easTeRn euROpe
65
30,000

OTHeR
70
15,000

TOTal
950
375,000

I n d u S t r I V ä r d e n  a t  a  G l a n C e
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HanDelsBanken is a universal 
bank with home markets in the 
Nordic countries and the UK. Its 
business is characterized by local 
customer responsibility, high cus-
tomer satisfaction and good profita-
bility.  
Accounts for 21% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 12.3 billion. Ownership of 11.1% of 
the votes and 10.9% of the capital.

sCa is the European leader in hygiene 
products and forest products. 
Accounts for 13% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 7.2 billion. Ownership of 29.1% of the 
votes and 10.0% of the capital.

eRICssOn is the market’s 
largest supplier of mobile 
telecom infrastructure, with 
a world-leading position in 
telecom development.
Accounts for 10% of the portfolio 
value, or SEK 5.6 billion. Own-
ership of 14.3%  of the votes and 
2.5% of the capital.

vOlvO has a world-leading position 
in commercial transport solutions.
Accounts for 16% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 9.3 billion. Ownership of 15.0% of the 
votes and 5.8% of the capital.

sanDvIk is a world leader in mate-
rials technology, with products pri-
marily for the manufacturing, min-
ing and construction industries.
Accounts for 21% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 12.2 billion. Ownership of 12.2% of 
the votes and 12.2% of the capital.

tHe InduStrIVärden SpHere
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ssaB has a world-leading 
position in high-strength 
steel.
Accounts for 6% of the portfo-
lio value, or SEK 3.4 billion. 
Ownership of 22.6% of the 
votes and 17.6% of the capital.

skanska is a leading interna-
tional construction and pro-
ject development company.
Accounts for 6% of the portfolio 
value, or SEK 3.2 billion. Owner-
ship of 23.7% of the votes and 6.8%  
of the capital.

HöGanäs has a leading global posi-
tion in metal powder technology.
Accounts for 2% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 0.9 billion. Ownership of 10.0% of the 
votes and 12.6% of the capital.

InDuTRaDe is a leading Nordic 
player in industrial technology sales.
Accounts for 5% of the portfolio value, or 
SEK 2.7 billion. Ownership of 36.8% of the 
votes and 36.8% of the capital.
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The second half of 2011 came to be overshad-
owed by two government financial crises – the 
euro crisis in Europe and the galloping federal 
budget deficit in the U.S. Both problems are a 
result of politicians’ inability to deal with the 
situation that has arisen, but above all of 
extremely poor government finances that are 
worsening at an ever-faster pace. In essence it is 
a sort of tug of war between the financial mar-
ket and the political system. It is up to the poli-
ticians to restore trust in their ability to get the 
weak government finances under control. It is 
a grueling process that takes time, at the same 
time that the market is demanding fast and con-
crete results. The single most important meas-
ure to reverse this problematic situation is not 
only to make cuts, but to stimulate growth. It 
is therefore gratifying to see growing signs that 
the U.S. is in the early stages of a recovery 
towards more normal growth figures. This is 
setting the stage for lower unemployment and 
reduced budget deficits. The euro zone is suf-
fering not only from a currency/euro crisis as a 
result of weak government finances, but also 
from a weak bank system. A weak bank system 
impedes opportunities for economic develop-
ment. It is therefore good to see that the Euro-
pean Central Bank (ECB) has acted and put 
three-year financing at the disposal of the bank-
ing market. This happened in December 2011 
and February 2012. Moreover, the euro pact cre-
ates conditions for greater budget discipline. As 
a result of these strong measures, the acute 
liquidity crisis in the Continental European 
bank system has been abated.

Serious crises create anxiety and feed pessi-
mism for the future. This pattern is repeating 
itself and is now being expressed in two inter-
related effects – downward adjustments of 
growth forecasts and falling stock prices. 

The forecasts for GDP growth in Europe 
and the world were steadily reduced in 2011. 
Sweden is now expected to go from growth of 
more than 4% in 2011 to slightly less than 1% in 
2012 – a drop of more than 3 percentage points! 
Naturally, it remains to be seen how things 
actually turn out, but the downward adjust-
ments are remarkably large in the Western 
world. However, most observers are forecast-
ing a mild recession in Europe in 2012. The 
world economy is estimated to grow with 3.3% 
during 2012.

The world’s stock markets, and the Swedish 

market in particular, fell sharply as the crisis 
reached its culmination in early October 2011. 
When the anxiety was at its greatest, the risk 
premium for equities was approximately 8%, 
compared with long-term interest rates of 
1%–2%! This happened at the same time when 
companies in general – and our portfolio com-
panies in particular – were showing continued 
favorable performance. But as always, it is 
expectations about the future that steer the 
stock market’s valuation of equities in the near 
term. During the fall of 2011 there were many 
who feared a collapse, among other things as a 
result of the disintegrating euro cooperation. 
The stock markets, which normally focus on 
valuating company-specific factors, now shifted 
over to judging macro risks, with sharply fall-
ing prices as a result. Now a growing number 
of observers believe that the actions taken are 
moving the development in the right direction 
and that the world will not go under this time 
either. This insight is reflected in the stock mar-
ket. Since hitting bottom in October 2011, the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange has gained 25%, and 
Industrivärden’s Class C stock has risen more 
than 50%.

In anxious times with a bumpy stock mar-
ket, it can be worthwhile to remind about 
Industrivärden’s business model – the founda-
tion for how we create shareholder value over 
time. We are long-term investors in great com-
panies that we believe in and where we can play 
a role in affecting their development through 
substantial influence. At the core, we exercise 
our active ownership by participating in the 

companies’ board work and engaging in a close 
dialog with their executive managements. We 
contribute with many years of experience and a 
wealth of knowledge about factors that lead to 
industrial development – and thereby favorable 
growth in value – over time. It is a business 
model that requires involvement, knowledge 
and long-term perspective in order to succeed.  

Since we take a long-term involvement in the 
strategic development of our portfolio compa-
nies, our view of their value differs from the 
market’s valuation in the near-term perspective. 
At any given moment the stock market valuates 
a listed company’s stock from a 6–12 month per-
spective. Stock prices are revised second by sec-
ond on the basis of risk premium, earnings 
capacity, developments in the operating envi-
ronment and a large number of other factors. 
Industrivärden is a long-term developer of com-
panies with a distinct owner perspective. This 
means that, for natural reasons, we have a con-
siderably longer assessment horizon than a 
strictly equity investor. Actively contributing 
to a company’s development takes time. Owing 
to the longer time perspective, valuation factors 
such as risk premium and other, more short-
term parameters have less weight, to the bene-
fit of strategic parameters such as long-term 
market potential and company structure. Nor 
should one forget that large shareholdings with 
a large share of votes have another value than 
the price of an individual share. Gaining an idea 
of our portfolio companies’ long-term value is 
at the heart of what we do, since it affects our 
investment decisions and the chosen level of 

Ceo’S MeSSaGe

“Gaining an idea of our portfolio  
companies’ long-term value is at the heart of what  
we do, since it affects our investment decisions and 

the chosen level of debt. Price is what the stock market 
pays for a stock today – value is what is built up  

in a company over time.”
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2011 aT a GlanCe

aCTIve OWneRsHIp In THe pORTFOlIO COMpanIes
• Ensure long-term growth plans.
• Manage rising commodity and energy costs.

neT asseT value
• Net asset value at year-end was SEK 104 per share (149), a decrease of 28% 

(increase of 37%) for the year including reinvested dividends.

TOTal ReTuRn
• The total return for Industrivärden’s Class C shares was –28%, which 

was  14 percentage points lower than for the return index.
• During the last twenty years, the average annual total return for the 

Class C shares was 13%, which exceeded the return index by 1 percent-
age point per year.

eQuITY TRansaCTIOns DuRInG THe YeaR
• Stocks were purchased for SEK 11,388 M (5,644) and sold for SEK 6,927 

M (3,097).
• Stocks were purchased for a net total of SEK 4,461 M (2,547).

laRGe puRCHase OF sHaRes In vOlvO
• Additional purchases of shares in Volvo for SEK 2,873 M, correspond-

ing to 4.1% of the votes. 
 

sHORT-TeRM TRaDInG
• As in previous years, Industrivärden’s short-term equity trading cov-

ered the Company’s management costs.

suCCessFul Issues OF COnveRTIBle BOnDs
• In January 2011 Industrivärden issued additional six-year convertible 

bonds worth EUR 550 M to obtain low-cost financing with the oppor-
tunity to issue new equity. In January 2010, five-year convertible bonds 
worth EUR 500 M were issued.

pROpOseD DIvIDenD
• The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of SEK 4.50 (4.00) per 

share, which corresponds to a dividend yield of 5.2% (3.3%) for the Class 
A shares.

debt. Price is what the stock market pays for a 
stock today – value is what is built up in a com-
pany over time. Over longer periods, these val-
ues intersect, but at any given moment the dif-
ference can be significant. In our opinion, due 
to the anxiety in the general operating environ-
ment that I described above – plus the fact that 
several of our portfolio companies are showing 
good profitability – the difference between the 
short-term and long-term valuation is today 
substantial.

It is in this context that one should view the 
two convertible loans we issued in 2010 and 2011 
in the euro market. Through these loans we 
have obtained a favorable form of financing for 
stock purchases in quality companies with his-
torically low multiples. The current level of debt 
in absolute terms is considered to be well-bal-
anced in view of the underlying assets’ size, 
their good liquidity and the fact that half of the 
debt amount consists of long-term convertible 
loans. My belief is that the convertible loans will 
be converted to equity. This will reduce our 
debt dramatically and further increase our 
investment capacity over time. 

2011 was characterized by a high level of 
activity and a number of important events in 
our portfolio companies. 



8a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 C e o ’ S  M e S S a G e

SCA announced in rapid succession the 
acquisition of Georgia Pacific’s European tissue 
business and the sale of its European packaging 
operation. Through this shift SCA has obtained 
a fine operation that has substantial synergies 
with its other hygiene businesses. SCA has 
thereby become a consumer products company 
backed up by a well-run forest products busi-
ness. Its ownership of Europe’s largest private 
forest holdings is a vital source of raw material 
and tempers the sensitivity of fluctuations in 
commodity prices for the hygiene business.

Sandvik – under the direction of CEO Olof 
Faxander, who took office in February 2011 –  
has further developed its strategy. The objective 
is to achieve clearer profitability targets, effi-
ciency improvements and greater synergies 
between the company’s different business areas, 
mainly in administration. The announced 
ambition to divest Medtech and the acquisition 
of Seco Tools are clear expressions of Sandvik’s 
efforts to strengthen its core business. The new 

group management that has been installed rep-
resents a rejuvenation with added international 
breadth.

Also Volvo, under the direction of its new 
CEO, Olof Persson, who took office in Septem-
ber 2011, has announced changes in the form of 
a new organization. Its goal has been to achieve 
efficiency improvements and a greater focus on 
profitability. The declared ambition to sell 
Volvo Aero is an expression of a greater concen-
tration on the core business. Volvo’s nominat-
ing committee has proposed Carl-Henrik Svan-
berg to succeed Louis Schweitzer as Chairman, 
who has declined re-election.

Handelsbanken continues to perform well. 
The bank is standing firmly on its own legs and 
did not need state support or subsidies to man-
age its funding during this bank crisis, either. 
It is worth noting that in 2011 alone, Handels-
banken paid SEK 1.1 billion in government fees, 
of which the Swedish Stability Fund accounted 
for the greater share. This is an added burden 
for the company and its shareholders. The new 
calculation bases for calculating the bank’s cap-
ital adequacy, under Basel III, have now been 
set. It is gratifying and impressive that Handels-
banken, with slightly more than 14% in core tier 
1 capital, is one of the most well capitalized 
banks in Europe. It would be unfortunate from 
a competition perspective if Handelsbanken 
and other Swedish banks were to have greater 
demands imposed on them from the Swedish 
FSA than their European counterparts. Han-
delsbanken’s organic growth with good profit-
ability in the UK is a textbook example of how 
a company – step-by-step, with limited risk and 
a successful business model – can gain a foot-
hold in a new market.

Ericsson is today an industry leader in 
mobile telecom systems and related services. 
While Ericsson has strengthened its position 
over time, most of its European and American 
competitors have been diminished or disap-
peared, and its lead over the Chinese competi-
tors has widened. The company is today a major 
player in terms of both volume and profitabil-
ity in the important U.S. market. During the 
year, Ericsson invested in capturing market 
shares in Europe at a time when the European 
operators were modernizing their networks. 
This investment in market shares has put pres-
sure on profitability in the near term. Ericsson’s 
sale of its 50% stake in Sony Ericsson to Sony 
and the acquisition of Telcordia are good exam-
ples of investments in the core business. In April 
2011 Leif Johansson was elected as Ericsson’s 
new chairman.

Skanska is pursuing further expansion – 
both in scope and geographically – of its highly 
successful project development business. Cur-
rently the company is developing its first com-
mercial property development projects in the 
U.S. At the same time, Skanska’s success, which 
is the result of a large and profitable construc-

tion operation combined with a successful pro-
ject development business, has resulted in a 
favorable total return over time. 

In 2011 we bought shares in portfolio com-
panies for SEK 4.5 billion, net. Among other 
things, we continued to strengthen our owner-
ship position in Volvo – a portfolio company 
that we believe has good future opportunities 
with major value potential. In total we bought 
Volvo stock for SEK 2.9 billion, after which our 
ownership now amounts to slightly more than 
15% of the votes. 

Earnings from our short-term trading 
amounted to SEK 152 M, compared with our 
management costs of SEK 105 M, or 0.18% of 
managed assets. We have now passed SEK 1 bil-
lion in profits from our short-term trading since 
the start in 2003.

Industrivärden has a proven ability to create 
shareholder value, and over the last fifteen years, 
Industrivärden has delivered an annual total 
return that is 2 percentage points higher than 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange, which for a 
long time has been a strong performer in an 
international comparison. In 2011 we were 
affected by the negative trend in the stock mar-
ket and the portfolio’s exposure to the indus-
trial and banking sectors. The portfolio value 
fell by slightly more than SEK 14 billion, to 
SEK 57 billion, and net asset value was SEK 104 
per share, or SEK 106 per share after full con-
version. The total return for Industrivärden’s 
stock was –28%, compared with –14% for the 
return index. During the start of 2012, the stock 
market has assigned a higher value to our port-
folio companies, and to date this year Indus-
trivärden’s stock has risen by 25%, compared 
with 10% for the Stockholm Stock Exchange.

The Board proposes a dividend of SEK 4.50 
per share, which entails that – as in previous 
years – we will fulfill our goal of paying a divi-
dend yield that is higher than the average for the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange.

Through our know-how, our resources and 
a well-proven work approach, we are well 
equipped to take an active ownership role for 
continued, competitive shareholder value over 
time.

Stockholm, February 2012

Anders Nyrén
President and CEO  

InDusTRIväRDen’s peRFORManCe
2011 2010

Equities portfolio
–  market capitalization as per 

December 31, SEK M 56,903 71,092
– total return1 –23% 31%

Borrowing 
–  interest-bearing net debt as 

per December 31, SEK M 16,780 13,401
of which, interest-bearing 
loans 8,225 9,246
of which, convertible loans 8,555 4,155

–  debt-equities ratio before full 
conversion 29.5% 18.9%

–  debt-equities ratio after full 
conversion 14.5% 13.0%

– average interest expense 3.5% 3.8%

Net asset value as per  
December 31, SEK M 40,123 57,691
Net asset value as per  
December 31, SEK/share 104 149
– Change2 –28% 37%

Management cost 0.18% 0.13%
Dividend, SEK/share3 4.50 4.00

Dividend yield, Class A shares 5.2% 3.3%
Dividend yield, Class C shares 5.5% 3.4%

Total return, Class A shares –25% 40%
Total return, Class C shares –28% 48%
Total return index –14% 27%

1) Total return for the equities portfolio including dividends received.

2) Change in net asset value taking reinvested dividends into account.

3)  Dividend for the respective financial years. For 2011 as proposed by the 
Board of Directors. 
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I ndustrivärden’s goal is to generate high 
growth in net asset value over time and 
to deliver a total return to the Company’s 
shareholders which, over the long term, 

is higher than the average for the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange (NASDAQ OMX Nordic, 
Stockholm). Industrivärden has achieved this 
goal by a good margin, and Industrivärden’s 
stock stands up well in comparison to similar 
long-term investment alternatives.

Industrivärden works according to a well 
proven model for structured investment activ-
ities and active value creation in its portfolio 

companies. Using this as a foundation and with 
a long-term approach, Industrivärden has gen-
erated favorable growth in net asset value in 
both the short- and long-term perspectives. 
This favorable performance, combined with the 
Company’s dividend policy of paying a divi-
dend yield that is higher than the average for the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange, has enabled Indus-
trivärden to deliver an attractive and competi-
tive total return to its shareholders. 

For long periods of time – including the 
entire time since the Company’s stock market 
introduction in 1945 – Industrivärden’s stock 

has generated a higher total return than the 
average for the Stockholm Stock Exchange, 
which in many years has been a strong per-
former from an international perspective. For 
long periods, calculated as an average for mov-
ing ten-year periods, Industrivärden has deliv-
ered an annual excess return of two percentage 
points compared with the stock market. In 2011 
the total return was –25% for the Class A shares 
and –28% for the Class C shares, compared with 
–14% for the return index.

HIGHer lonG-terM total return tHan 
return IndeX

aveRaGe GROWTH In neT asseT value1

2011 Five years Ten years Fifteen  years Twenty  years 
Net asset value, % –30 –7 0 4 6
Net asset value including reinvested dividends, %2 –28 –4 4 7 10
1) Yearly average.

2) Taking into account reinvested dividends, a measure of total value growth is obtained, i.e., how net asset value would have developed if dividends had remained in the Company and grown in pace with the equities portfolio. 

TOTal ReTuRn FOR InDusTRIväRDen COMpaReD WITH ReTuRn InDeX

Industrivärden Return index Industrivärden4

MSCI Total 
Return  

Europe4

Annual total return3 Class A, % Class C, % SIXRX, % Class A, % Class C, % %
20 years 12 13 12 – – –
15 years 10 10 8 – – –
10 years 5 5 6 5 6 1
5 years –5 –4 0 –4 –4 –4
1 year –25 –28 –14 –24 –28 –8
3) Growth in value including reinvested dividends.

4) Morgan Stanely Index. All data denominated in EUR.

TOTal ReTuRn (value OF sek One InvesTMenT sInCe sTOCk MaRkeT InTRODuCTIOn In 1945)
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Industrivärden SEK 5,063

Return index SEK 2,827
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buSIneSS Model

HIGHlY ReFIneD WORk pROCesses
Work is conducted in four processes, where 
most of Industrivärden’s resources are dedicated 
to value-creating active ownership. Each port-
folio company is analyzed with respect to poten-
tial growth in value. Quantitative goals are eval-
uated on a continuous basis, as are various 
options for a future exit. Major emphasis is put 
on continuous comparisons with long-term 
investments in other listed companies. Invest-
ments are evaluated continuously with a 5–8 year 
time horizon.

sTRuCTuReD value CReaTIOn
Industrivärden’s core business is to invest in 
listed Nordic companies with good potential 
for value appreciation, and through active own-
ership to contribute to continuous growth in 
value in its portfolio companies. The role as 
active owner requires that Industrivärden can 
exercise significant ownership influence and 
entails a long-term investment horizon. An 
active ownership perspective fosters a keen 
understanding of the portfolio companies’ busi-
nesses, operating environments and continuing 
development. Contributing to value creation in 
the portfolio companies increases asset values 
at the same time that active involvement and 
knowledge about the companies reduces Indus-
trivärden’s equities risk.

suCCessFul BusIness MODel
Industrivärden has many years of experience in 
value-creating active ownership and works 
according to a well proven business model. 
Industrivärden’s success can ultimately be cred-
ited to its employees and well established work 
processes.

Substantial structural capital
• Professional organization
• Experienced board members
• Well-proven, effective work  

methods
• Extensive networks
• Strong financial resources

Strong leverage of influence
• Significant influence in global com-

panies with combined market cap 
of approximately SEK 760 billion

• Collaboration with other owners
• Strong positions of trust 

Portfolio of industry-leading  
companies
• Professional selection process
• Companies with substantial value  

potential 

Value-creating long-term active 
ownership
• Well developed ownership strategy
• Continuous active development of 

companies
• Long-term focus enhances value- 

creating potential

Equity trading
Contribute with market information and  

generate excess returns

Analysis
Contribute through continuous evaluation of  

investments and external factors 

Investments
Evaluate portfolio companies and 

potential new investments

Evaluate possible realization of 
built-up value

Active ownership
Create value added in the  

portfolio companies
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InvesTMenTs
The investment process involves evaluating 
existing investments against set target values 
and providing a continuous and current picture 
of new investments that meet the set investment 
criteria. The aim is to be able to act quickly 
when investment opportunities arise.

Clear investment criteria
Investments are made in companies with 
proven business models and considerable 
opportunities for future growth in value.
• Investments in mid- and large cap listed Nor-

dic companies.
• Focus on business models that can be applied 

in several markets.

• Good ability to generate growth in cash flow.
• Major potential for value appreciation 

through active ownership.
• Ownership stakes that enable significant influ-

ence.
• Leading positions in selected market segments.

More than 800 listed companies in the major  
Nordic stock markets

Industrivärden’s  
investment criteria

Approximately 50 companies that  
meet set investment criteria

In-depth analysis

20 potential  
new investments

Potential new investments
Possible value potential in the most attractive 
new investment candidates.

 
Continuous evaluation against target values  

• Increase/decrease in existing holdings
• New investment

• Exit

Portfolio companies
Greatest potential for value creation through active  
ownership with an evaluation horizon of 5–8 years. 
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aCTIve OWneRsHIp
Industrivärden’s influence in its portfolio compa-
nies is grounded in significant ownership stakes 
and a strong position of trust. From this founda-
tion, Industrivärden takes an active ownership 
role through interaction with other major own-
ers in the aim of finding ways to build value in the 
shareholdings. Active ownership is exercised by 
directors on the boards of the portfolio compa-
nies who have ties to Industrivärden, through 
participation in the respective companies’ nomi-
nating processes, and through direct dialog 
between Industrivärden’s investment organiza-
tion and leading representatives of the portfolio 
companies. Active ownership is conducted from 
a platform of continuous, fundamental analysis 
and an action plan for value creation.

The work is conducted from an overarching 
ownership perspective and focuses on such mat-
ters as strategy, company structure, market 
potential, capital structure and corporate gov-
ernance. One of the most central duties of the 
respective companies’ boards is to appoint the 
CEO and continuously evaluate the work of the 
company’s management. Active ownership 
gives company management the security to act 
with a long-term focus.

Board representation
Active ownership is ultimately conducted through 
board representation. The portfolio company’s 
chairman normally has ties to Industri värden, 
which as a rule is represented by at least one direc-
tor on the company’s board. Such directors are 

normally also members of Industrivärden’s board. 
A detailed presentation of Industrivärden’s board 
of directors can be found on page 49.

Nominating committee work
The composition of the boards of the portfolio 
companies is of central importance, which is 
why Industrivärden participates actively in the 
preparation work behind nominations of direc-
tors for company boards. Normally, the nomi-
nating committee chair for a portfolio company 
has ties to Industrivärden, which as a rule is rep-
resented by at least one director. Industrivärden’s 
Executive Vice President, Carl-Olof By, is 
responsible for the Group’s corporate govern-
ance work and represents Industrivärden on the 
portfolio companies’ nominating committees.

Sverker Martin-Löf
Doctor of Technology, Honorary Ph.D. Chair-
man of Industrivärden, SCA, Skanska and 
SSAB. Vice Chairman of Ericsson. Director of 
Svenska Handelsbanken. Former CEO of 
SCA, with experience from several executive 
positions at SCA.  

Fredrik Lundberg,
M.Sc. Eng., MBA, Honorary Doctor of Eco-
nomics, Honorary Doctor of Engineering. 
President and CEO of L E Lundbergföretagen. 
Chairman of Holmen and Hufvudstaden. Vice 
Chairman of Svenska Handelsbanken. Direc-
tor of L E Lundbergföretagen, Sandvik and 
Skanska. Active in L E Lundbergföretagen 
since 1977.

Hans Larsson
B.A. Chairman of Handelsbanken. Director of 
Holmen. Former CEO of Nordstjernan, 
Esselte and Swedish Match.

Stuart Graham
MBA. Director of Skanska, PPL Corporation 
and Harsco Corporation. Former CEO of the 
Skanska Group, Skanska USA and Sordoni 
Skanska, among others.

Boel Flodgren
J.S.D., Honorary Doctor of Economics and 
Business Administration, Professor. Director 
of Brinova and the University of Copenhagen.
Professor of Business Law and former Presi-
dent of Lund University.

Christian Caspar
MBA. Director of Stena and Bonnier. More 
than thirty years of experience in senior posi-
tions with McKinsey & Company. 

Anders Nyrén
MBA, U.S. MBA. President and CEO of 
Industrivärden. Chairman of Sandvik. Vice 
Chairman of Svenska Handelsbanken. Direc-
tor of Ericsson, SCA, SSAB, Volvo, Ern-
strömgruppen, the Stockholm School of Eco-
nomics, and the Stockholm School of 
Economics Association. Former Executive 
Vice President of Skanska, Nordbanken and 
Securum. Former CEO of OM International 
and other companies.
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analYsIs
Industrivärden has a cost-efficient organization 
that is distinguished by high flexibility and 
short decision-making channels. The Company 
has just over 20 employees, seven board mem-
bers and an extensive contact network with spe-
cialist expertise. Operations are project-ori-
ented and involve personnel from both the 
investment organization and staff functions. 

Each portfolio company and potential new-
investment candidate is monitored by an invest-
ment team. The investment team performs a 
fundamental company analysis that culminates 
in a so-called core analysis. Based on this anal-
ysis, the team continuously updates an action 
plan, which serves as a platform for the design, 
implementation and evaluation of Industri-

värden’s active ownership. The aim is primarily 
to identify and describe various opportunities 
for value growth as well as strategic measures 
for achieving this value. 

All analysis is based on external information 
material. Each investment team presents its 
action plan on a continuous basis to the director 
or directors with ties to Industrivärden serving 
on the board of the portfolio company. In this 
way, Industrivärden’s representatives are pro-
vided with a current picture of identified oppor-
tunities and measures. The investment teams 
also conduct an ongoing dialog with the com-
pany management of the respective portfolio 
companies. By working with sound, well-
researched ideas, Industrivärden can exert influ-
ence on the respective portfolio companies’ 

boards. In this way, over time parts of the action 
plans can be put to concrete work in the portfo-
lio company for future value creation.

Corporate social responsibility
Industrivärden has a long tradition of corporate 
responsibility, both in its role as an active owner 
and as a listed company. A fundamental value 
held by Industrivärden is that social and envi-
ronmental responsibility create business oppor-
tunities that contribute to long-term share-
holder value. All businesses shall conform to 
laws and generally accepted regulations, and are 
responsible for drawing up relevant guidelines 
with quantifiable goals.

Continuous dialog with 
management of the port-
folio companies

Presentations to Indus-
trivärden’s board of direc-
tors

The company, competitors 
and the industry

Key business intelligence 
factors and megatrends

Directors with ties to Industrivärden

Investment teams
• Investment Committee
• Investment Manager/Team Manager
• Analysts
• External resources

Fundamental 
analysis

Investigative 
assignment

Action plan
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value CReaTIOn THROuGH InFluenCe, knOWleDGe  
anD InvOlveMenT – WITH sanDvIk as an eXaMple

  
Ownership issues

• Strategy

• Company management

• Financial goals

• Capital structure

• Corporate governance

• Organizational structure

• Compensation structure

• Reporting and control systems

• Environment and corporate social 
responsibility

 
Resources

• Sandvik board members with ties to  
Industrivärden 

• Investment organization 

• Proprietary methods and systems 

• Extensive network

Fundamental  
analysis

Carl-Olof By
Executive Vice President,
B.A., M. Pol. Sc.

Fredric Calles
Head of Short-Term Trading,
MBA

Sverker Sivall 
Head of Corporate Communications,
MBA

Anders Nyrén
President and CEO,
MBA, U.S. MBA

Martin Hamner
Chief Financial Officer,
MBA

Executive Management and Investment  
Committee
The CEO is responsible for Industrivärden’s 
day-to-day administration, which is handled by 
the Company’s Executive Management. This 
work involves strategic, organizational and 
financing matters as well as control and follow-
up, among other things. Industrivärden’s Exec-
utive Management also serves as the Investment 
Committee, which adopts action plans and 
makes investment decisions within set man-
dates. Representatives of the Executive Man-
agement participate on the investment teams, 
with overarching responsibility.

Industrivärden works with a lean and flexi-
ble organization, thus enabling the Executive 
Management to participate actively in the oper-
ating activities within their respective areas.  
A substantial part of the CEO’s work time is 
de dicated to board work within the framework 
of active ownership in the portfolio companies. 
Other members of the Executive Management 
can also contribute with specialist expertise on 
Industrivärden’s investment teams. A detailed 
presentation of the members of the Executive 
Management can be found on page 50.

Visit at Skanskas’ infrastructure project – St. Bartholomew’s Hospital in London.

Action plan



1 5a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 b u s i n e s s  m o d e l 

equity trading
Industrivärden has a separate, short-term trad-
ing function to support the investment activi-
ties with market information and to execute 
investment decisions. In an effort to generate 
excess returns, short-term trading is conducted 
in equities and equity-related instruments. 
Value is created primarily through derivative 
transactions in the shares of existing portfolio 
companies.

By monitoring the market’s valuation of the 
portfolio companies over time, Industrivärden 
has gained a good feeling for the market’s pric-
ing of the portfolio companies’ stocks. To utilize 
this knowledge, short-term derivative transac-
tions are conducted to a limited extent on a con-
tinuous basis in Industrivärden’s long-term 
equity investments. Industrivärden’s short-term 
trading, which has been highly successful, has 
generated earnings of approximately SEK 1 bil-
lion since the start in 2003. 

Short-term trading operations.

Board work 
Anders Nyrén, Chairman of the Board, and Fredrik Lundberg, director, have ties to Industrivärden.  
Twelve board meetings were held in 2011. Following were some of the more important matters of business:

• Olof Faxander, who was appointed as CEO in December 2010, took office in February 1, 2011.
• Focus on the company’s strategic direction.

• Five business areas and clearer operational focus.
• Stronger platform for joint resources.
• New model for business control.

• Structure, objectives and organizational matters.
• New Group management.
• Acquisition of Seco Tools.
• New long-term incentive program.
• Drafting of dividend proposal.

Continuous dialog and company visits
In 2011, Industrivärden’s company team held three meetings with senior executives of Sandvik. The  
team participated at several capital market days held by major engineering companies and paid a number  
of company visits to various players in the industry around the world.

Collaboration with other major shareholders
In 2011, continuous, customary dialog was held with other major shareholders of Sandvik. 

Recommendation for board members
• Carl-Olof By, Nominating Committee chair, represents the shareholder Industrivärden. During the  

2011 calendar year, five Nominating Committee meetings were held, and the Nominating Committee’s  
recommendation for election of board members was presented in March 2011. 

• At the Annual General Meeting in May 2011, the directors were elected in accordance with the  
Nominating Committee’s recommendation. 
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aCtIVe oWnerSHIp In praCtICe

Investment case Strategic decisions 
 

Ownership focus  

Board member(s) with  
ties to  
Industrivärden

Nominating committee repre-
sentative/Responsible on 
investment team

HanDelsBanken
A well developed universal banking business and 
decentralized branch network with local cus-
tomer responsibility contribute to high customer 
satisfaction and good profitability. 

• Consistently applied business model.
•  Organic growth in priority markets in the Nordic countries and  

the UK.
•  Strong financial position and strengthened market position in  

a turbulent operating environment.

Good profitability, strong financial posi-
tion and organic growth with broad-
ened geographic base.

Hans Larsson (Chairman), Sverker 
Martin-Löf, Anders Nyrén (Vice  
Chairman) and Fredrik Lundberg  
(Vice Chairman)

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

sanDvIk
Through a niche focus and strong R&D position, 
Sandvik has established a world-leading position 
in materials technology with products primarily 
for the manufacturing, mining and construction 
industries. 

• Strategic focus and new organization.
• New Group management.
• Consolidation of completed acquisitions.
• Strong positions in emerging markets.

Strengthening of profitability by 
optimizing growth together with cost 
reductions. 

Anders Nyrén (Chairman) and  
Fredrik Lundberg

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Sigfrid (Team Manager) 

vOlvO
Through innovative, customer-adapted product 
development and high quality, Volvo has at-
tained a world-leading position in commercial 
transport solutions.

• Strategic focus and new organization.
• New Group management.
•  Strong position in Asia, among other growth markets.
• Development of new platform of medium-duty engines.

Improved profitability through greater 
internal efficiency.

Anders Nyrén Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Madeleine Wallmark (Team Manager)

sCa
Europe’s leading producer of hygiene products, 
with a fast-growing range of personal care prod-
ucts. Europe’s largest private forest owner.

•  Restructured product portfolio with focus on growth in the  
hygiene segment.

• Stronger presence in hygiene segment in Brazil.
• Strengthening of global and regional brands.
• Accelerated pace of innovation.

Profitability through greater share of hy-
giene products and efficiency improve-
ment measures.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman) and  
Anders Nyrén 

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

eRICssOn
The market’s largest and most profitable supplier 
of mobile telephony infrastructure, with a lead-
ing position in telecom development. 

•  Strong position ahead of operators’ investments in the next  
generation of telecom systems (4G).

•  North America’s leading supplier of network systems through  
goal-oriented acquisitions and contracts.

•  Acquisition of U.S. company Telcordia for SEK 7 billion  
strengthens position in multimedia solutions.

Growth and improved profitability 
based on the company’s leading posi-
tion in end-to-end telecommunications 
solutions.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Vice Chairman)  
and Anders Nyrén

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)

ssaB
World-leading position in advanced high-
strength steel segments creates solid foundation 
for growth and sustained high profitability. 

•  North American acquisition has increased capacity and enables  
continued international expansion.

• Greater focus on growth markets for specialty products. 

Profitability strengthened through 
expansion in high-strength steel niche 
segment.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman)  
and Anders Nyrén

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)

skanska
Comprehensive know-how in construction com-
bined with a process focus has created a leading 
construction services company with world-class 
value-creating project development. 

• Efficient construction operation generates good cash flows.
• Successful model for value-creating project development.

Continued favorable profitability for the 
construction operations combined with 
selective expansion in value-creating 
projects.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman),  
Stuart  Graham (Vice Chairman) and  
Fredrik  Lundberg

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

InDuTRaDe
The combination of sales of industrial, high-tech 
consumables, good organic growth and a highly 
refined model for acquisition-based growth has 
resulted in impressive profitability growth. 

• Establishment in new geographic markets.
• Flexibility through decentralized business model.

Favorable profitability growth through 
continuous development of the com-
pany’s unique business model.

Bengt Kjell (Chairman) Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Madeleine Wallmark (Team Manager)

HöGanäs
Market leader in growing niche of metal pow-
ders, used primarily for component manufactur-
ing in the automotive industry.

• Increased activity in emerging markets. 
•  Focus on collaboration with customers on new component  

development.

Growth in new application areas with 
good profitability.

Bengt Kjell Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
member)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)
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Investment case Strategic decisions 
 

Ownership focus  

Board member(s) with  
ties to  
Industrivärden

Nominating committee repre-
sentative/Responsible on 
investment team

HanDelsBanken
A well developed universal banking business and 
decentralized branch network with local cus-
tomer responsibility contribute to high customer 
satisfaction and good profitability. 

• Consistently applied business model.
•  Organic growth in priority markets in the Nordic countries and  

the UK.
•  Strong financial position and strengthened market position in  

a turbulent operating environment.

Good profitability, strong financial posi-
tion and organic growth with broad-
ened geographic base.

Hans Larsson (Chairman), Sverker 
Martin-Löf, Anders Nyrén (Vice  
Chairman) and Fredrik Lundberg  
(Vice Chairman)

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

sanDvIk
Through a niche focus and strong R&D position, 
Sandvik has established a world-leading position 
in materials technology with products primarily 
for the manufacturing, mining and construction 
industries. 

• Strategic focus and new organization.
• New Group management.
• Consolidation of completed acquisitions.
• Strong positions in emerging markets.

Strengthening of profitability by 
optimizing growth together with cost 
reductions. 

Anders Nyrén (Chairman) and  
Fredrik Lundberg

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Sigfrid (Team Manager) 

vOlvO
Through innovative, customer-adapted product 
development and high quality, Volvo has at-
tained a world-leading position in commercial 
transport solutions.

• Strategic focus and new organization.
• New Group management.
•  Strong position in Asia, among other growth markets.
• Development of new platform of medium-duty engines.

Improved profitability through greater 
internal efficiency.

Anders Nyrén Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Madeleine Wallmark (Team Manager)

sCa
Europe’s leading producer of hygiene products, 
with a fast-growing range of personal care prod-
ucts. Europe’s largest private forest owner.

•  Restructured product portfolio with focus on growth in the  
hygiene segment.

• Stronger presence in hygiene segment in Brazil.
• Strengthening of global and regional brands.
• Accelerated pace of innovation.

Profitability through greater share of hy-
giene products and efficiency improve-
ment measures.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman) and  
Anders Nyrén 

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

eRICssOn
The market’s largest and most profitable supplier 
of mobile telephony infrastructure, with a lead-
ing position in telecom development. 

•  Strong position ahead of operators’ investments in the next  
generation of telecom systems (4G).

•  North America’s leading supplier of network systems through  
goal-oriented acquisitions and contracts.

•  Acquisition of U.S. company Telcordia for SEK 7 billion  
strengthens position in multimedia solutions.

Growth and improved profitability 
based on the company’s leading posi-
tion in end-to-end telecommunications 
solutions.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Vice Chairman)  
and Anders Nyrén

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)

ssaB
World-leading position in advanced high-
strength steel segments creates solid foundation 
for growth and sustained high profitability. 

•  North American acquisition has increased capacity and enables  
continued international expansion.

• Greater focus on growth markets for specialty products. 

Profitability strengthened through 
expansion in high-strength steel niche 
segment.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman)  
and Anders Nyrén

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)

skanska
Comprehensive know-how in construction com-
bined with a process focus has created a leading 
construction services company with world-class 
value-creating project development. 

• Efficient construction operation generates good cash flows.
• Successful model for value-creating project development.

Continued favorable profitability for the 
construction operations combined with 
selective expansion in value-creating 
projects.

Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman),  
Stuart  Graham (Vice Chairman) and  
Fredrik  Lundberg

Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Erik Röjvall (Investment Manager)

InDuTRaDe
The combination of sales of industrial, high-tech 
consumables, good organic growth and a highly 
refined model for acquisition-based growth has 
resulted in impressive profitability growth. 

• Establishment in new geographic markets.
• Flexibility through decentralized business model.

Favorable profitability growth through 
continuous development of the com-
pany’s unique business model.

Bengt Kjell (Chairman) Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
chair)
Madeleine Wallmark (Team Manager)

HöGanäs
Market leader in growing niche of metal pow-
ders, used primarily for component manufactur-
ing in the automotive industry.

• Increased activity in emerging markets. 
•  Focus on collaboration with customers on new component  

development.

Growth in new application areas with 
good profitability.

Bengt Kjell Carl-Olof By (nominating committee 
member)
Peter Nyström (Team Manager)
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Net asset value is a measure of the 
shareholders’ total net worth in 
the Company, defined as the mar-
ket value of the equities portfolio 

less interest-bearing net debt. 
Net asset value at year-end 2011 was SEK 

40.1 billion (57.7), or SEK 104 per share (149). 
Net asset value including reinvested dividends 
grew 10% per year during the 20-year period 
1992–2011, compared with 12% for the return 
index. 

The long-term growth of net asset value is 
shown in the charts on page 19. 

eQuITIes pORTFOlIO
Industrivärden’s equities portfolio comprises 
large shareholdings in Handelsbanken, Sand-
vik, Volvo, SCA, Ericsson, SSAB, Skanska, 
Indutrade and Höganäs, all of in which Indus-
trivärden is a long-term active owner. The com-
panies are characterized by front positions in 
selected market segments, industry-leading 
positions and a high level of international busi-
ness. 

The equities portfolio, which is valued at 
market prices as per December 31, 2011, had a 
market value of SEK 56.9 billion (71.1), corre-
sponding to SEK 147 (184) per Industrivärden 
share. 

InvesTMenT aCTIvITIes 2011
During the year, stocks were purchased for SEK 
4,461 M (2,547) net. The largest net purchases 
pertained to Volvo, for SEK 2,873 M, and Han-
delsbanken, for SEK 728 M. The shares in Volvo 
that were bought in 2011 correspond to 4.1% of 
the votes (2.2%).

peRFORManCe OF THe eQuITIes 
pORTFOlIO In 2011
The market value of the equities portfolio at 
year-end 2011 was SEK 56,903 M (71,092), which 
exceeded cost by SEK 18,389 M (37,743). Taking 
purchases and sales into account, the value of 
the equities portfolio decreased by 26% during 
the year (increased by 28%), while the Stock-
holm Stock Exchange’s market index (OMX-
SPI), decreased by 17% during the year 
(increased by 23%).

Dividends received during the year totaled 
SEK 2,403 M (1,379). The total return for the 
portfolio, i.e., the change in value including 
reinvested dividends, was –23% (31%), compared 
with –14% (27%) for the return index (SIXRX). 

sHORT-TeRM TRaDInG
Short-term derivative transactions and short-
term equity trading are conducted on a regular 
basis to enhance the return of the equities port-
folio. Combined income from Industrivärden’s 
short-term derivative transactions and equity 
trading totaled SEK 152 M (114).

InTeResT-BeaRInG neT DeBT
Interest-bearing net debt amounted to SEK 16.8 
billion (13.4) at year-end 2011, corresponding to 
SEK 43 (35) per Industrivärden share. Of total 
net debt, SEK 8.6 billion consists of the loan 
portion of the convertible bonds that were 
issued in January 2010 and January 2011. Upon 
conversion, the debt is transformed to equity. 
The current level of debt in absolute terms is 
considered to be well-balanced in view of the 
underlying assets’ size, their good liquidity and 
the fact that half of the debt amount consists of 
long-term convertible loans. The debt-equities 
ratio at year-end 2011 was 29%, or 14% after full 
conversion of the convertible loans. 

Issue OF COnveRTIBle lOans
In January 2010 Industrivärden issued a five-
year convertible loan worth EUR 500 M. The 
aim was to take advantage of strong market con-
ditions and good credit quality to obtain attrac-
tive financing with the opportunity to issue 
new equity. In January 2011 a second converti-
ble loan for six years was issued for EUR 550 M 
to further enhance Industrivärden’s financial 
flexibility. Some of this capital has been used for 
investments in portfolio companies with 
favorable dividend yields and potential for 
growth in value – mainly Volvo, Handels-
banken and Sandvik.

net aSSet Value

neT asseT value

SEK billion Dec. 31, 2011 Dec. 31, 2010 Dec. 31, 2009 Dec. 31, 2008 Dec. 31, 2007
Equities portfolio 56.9 71.1 53.5 34.7 65.8

Interest-bearing net debt –16.8 –13.4 –10.8 –10.8 –11.0

of which, interest-bearing loans –8.2 –9.2 –10.8 –10.8 –11.0

of which, convertible loans –8.6 –4.2 – – –
Net asset value 40.1 57.7 42.8 23.9 54.8
Net asset value per share, SEK 104 149 111 62 142
Debt-equities ratio, % 29.5 18.9 20.1 31.1 16.6
Net asset value per share, SEK after full conversion 106 144 – – –
Debt-equities ratio, % after full conversion 14.5 13.0 – – –



1 9a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 n e t  a S S e t  V a l u e 

eQuITIes pORTFOlIO as peR DeCeMBeR 31, 2011

 No. of shares
Market value,  

SEK M
Cost,  

SEK M
Share of portfolio 

value, %
Share of capital in 

company, %
Share of votes in 

company, %
Handelsbanken 67,810,927 12,274 7,155 21 10.9 11.1
Sandvik 144,577,252 12,210 7,277 21 12.2 12.2
Volvo 122,768,857 9,323 10,869 16 5.8 15.0
SCA 70,800,000 7,174 2,611 13 10.0 29.1
Ericsson 80,708,520 5,613 3,555 10 2.5 14.3
SSAB 56,860,957 3,443 4,178 6 17.6 22.6
Skanska1 28,366,306 3,234 1,931 6 6.8 23.7
Indutrade 14,727,800 2,695 102 5 36.8 36.8
Höganäs 4,408,046 937 836 2 12.6 10.0
Total 56,903 38,514 100
1) Skanska’s Class A shares, which are not listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange, have been assigned the same value as the Class B shares.

peRFORManCe OF HOlDInGs In THe eQuITIes pORTFOlIO 2011
Total return1

Price change, % Total return, % 5 years, % 10 years, % 20 years, %
Handelsbanken –16 –12 2 6 15
Sandvik –36 –34 0 11 13
Volvo –34 –32 –1 13 14
SCA –4 0 0 5 9
Ericsson –6 –3 –10 –9 9
SSAB –46 –45 –14 11 14
Skanska –14 –6 3 11 12
Indutrade2 –21 –19 10 – –
Höganäs –19 –16 9 7 –
Equities portfolio –26 –23

Index (OMXSPI):  –17 Index (SIXRX):  –14 0 6 12
1) Average annual total return.

2) Indutrade was listed on the stock market on October 5, 2005.
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Average annual growth in net asset value during the last ten- and twenty-year periods was 4% 
and 10%, respectively, including reinvested dividends. 
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During the last 20-year period, the 
total return including reinvested 
dividends was 12% for the Class A 
shares and 13% for the Class C 

shares, compared with 12% for the market as a 
whole. In 2011 the total return was –25% for the 
Class A shares and –28% for the Class C shares, 
compared with –14% for the market as a whole.

Trading volume of Industrivärden shares on 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange in 2011 was SEK 
19 billion (16), corresponding to a turnover rate 
of 13% (25%) for the Class A shares and 89% (91%) 
for the Class C shares. Average daily trading vol-
ume was 233,000 Class A shares and 526,000 
Class C shares.

DIvIDenD
Industrivärden’s dividend policy is to pay the 
shareholders a dividend yield that is higher than 
the average for listed Swedish stocks. This goal 
has been achieved every year during the last ten-
year period. The dividend should be well bal-
anced with respect to the goals, scope and risk 
of operations. The Board of Directors has pro-
posed that the 2012 Annual General Meeting 
declare a dividend of SEK 4.50 (4.00) per share, 
corresponding to a dividend yield of 5.2% for the 
Class A shares and 5.5% for the Class C shares.

InDusTRIväRDen’s sTOCk anD 
sHaReHOlDeRs
Industrivärden’s Class A and Class C shares are 
listed on the Stockholm Stock Exchange  
(NASDAQ OMX Nordic, Stockholm). 
Industri värden’s stock is listed in the large cap 
segment, consisting of companies with a mar-
ket capitalization in excess of EUR 1 billion. 
Industri värden has 49,000 shareholders 
(49,000). Foreign ownership in the Company 
is 12% (10%). 

Each A-share carries entitlement to one vote, 
and each C-share carries entitlement to one-
tenth of a vote. All shares carry equal entitle-
ment to the Company’s assets and earnings. 

eMplOYee sHaReHOlDInGs In 
InDusTRIväRDen
Information on shareholdings of Company 
directors, members of the executive manage-
ment and senior executives is provided on pages 
49–50.

InDusTRIväRDen’s sTOCk as peR 
DeCeMBeR 31, 2011

Percentage of

Number of shares

Capital 
stock, 

SEK M  votes shares
268,530,640 Class A 
shares 671.4  96  70
117,740,584 Class C 
shares 294.3   4  30
386,271,224 shares 965.7 100 100

COnveRsIOn TO Class a anD  
Class C sHaRes
At the Annual General Meeting on May 5, 2011, 
a share conversion clause was added to Industri-
värden’s articles of association. Shareholders 
have the right at any time to convert Class A 
shares to Class C shares. Conversion forms are 
available on Industrivärden’s website under the 
“Share data” menu. A total of 16,764 Class A 
shares were converted to Class C shares in 2011.

COnveRsIOn TO Class C sHaRes
The issues of convertible bonds that were 
decided on in 2010 and 2011 will increase the 
number of underlying shares by 74 million new 
Class C shares upon full conversion at the orig-
inal conversion prices. No conversions took 
place in 2011.

InduStrIVärden SHare data 

DIvIDenD
SEK 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Dividend 4.50 1 4.00 3.00 4.50 5.00
Annual growth in dividend, % 13 33 –33 –10 11
Dividend yield, Class A shares, % 5.2 3.3 3.4 7.9 4.4
Dividend yield, Class C shares, % 5.5 3.4 3.6 9.0 4.8
Dividend yield for Stockholm Stock Exchange, %2 3.8 3.2 2.8 4.5 4.0
1) Proposed by the Board of Directors.

2) Source: NASDAQ OMX. Preliminary figures for 2011 in February 2012.

InDusTRIväRDen COnveRTIBle lOans
Nominal value,  

EUR M
Conversion price, 

SEK
Fixed conversion 

price, SEK
Maximum number of additional 

Class C shares, millions
Convertible loan 2010–2015 500 115.50 10.2258 44.3
Convertible loan 2011–2017 550 162.00 8.8803 30.1
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OWneRsHIp sTRuCTuRe aT DeCeMBeR 31, 20111

Percentage of
Largest shareholders Number of shares votes capital stock
L E Lundbergföretagen 50,000,000 12.9 17.8
Handelsbanken Pension Foundation 29,800,000 7.7 10.6
Handelsbanken Pension Fund 29,350,000 7.6 10.5
Jan Wallander and Tom Hedelius Foundation 25,800,000 6.7 9.2
SCA Pension Foundation 18,824,080 4.9 6.7
SCA Group Holding 10,525,655 2.7 3.8
Swedbank Robur Mutual Funds 9,707,585 2.5 0.5
SCA Vorsorge-Treuhand 9,514,630 2.5 3.4
Government of Norway 7,787,569 2.0 1.4
SCA Pension Foundation for salaried employees and foremen 7,018,336 1.8 2.5
Svenska Handelsbanken 6,669,521 1.7 2.4
Fredrik Lundberg 5,240,000 1.4 1.9
AMF Pension 4,525,000 1.2 0.2
Skandia Liv 4,014,245 1.0 0.2
Third Swedish National Pension Fund 3,613,841 0.9 0.6
Second Swedish National Pension Fund 3,526,916 0.9 0.3
Tore Browaldh Foundation 3,410,000 0.9 1.2
State Street Bank, Pension Fund 2,601,769 0.7 0.4
Oktogonen 2,476,875 0.6 0.9
Total above 234,406,022 60.7 74.3
Other shareholders 151,865,202 39.3 25.7
Total Industrivärden 386,271,224 100.0 100.0
1) Source: Euroclear.

InDusTRIväRDen C, annual TOTal ReTuRn

InDusTRIväRDen’s TOTal ReTuRn, 10 YeaRs

The average annual total return during the last ten and twenty year periods was 5% 
and 13%, respectively.
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profItable GroWtH tHrouGH  
loCal CuStoMer reSponSIbIlItY

HOlDInG

Shares: 67,810,927 Class A shares  
Market value: SEK12,274 M  
Share of votes: 11.1% Share of capital: 10.9%  
Share of equities portfolio: 21%

OpeRaTIOns
Handelsbanken is a universal bank whose busi-
ness concept is to offer a comprehensive range 
of high quality financial services to private and 
corporate customers in the Nordic region and 
the U.K. A fundamental tenet of this concept is 
that overall customer responsibility rests with 
the local branch that serves the customer. This 
enables deep and enduring customer relation-
ships that are characterized by availability, sim-
plicity and a high degree of service. The 
branches conduct their marketing activities by 
assigning local priorities to customer categories 
or product areas. Through consistent applica-
tion of this highly effective business model, 
Handelsbanken has established a strong finan-
cial position and has strengthened its market 
position in a turbulent environment. Low risk 
appetite has contributed to considerably lower 
loan losses than the industry as a whole and 
favorable share dividends even during financial 
crises, without the need for new issues and/or 
government support. Handelsbanken has a 
strong position in the Swedish market, with 461 
branches. In the other Nordic countries the 
bank has a total of 149 branches, plus 104 
branches in the U.K. and 32 in the rest of the 
world. In all, Handelsbanken conducts business 
in 22 countries. Operations are geared for con-
tinued growth, mainly organic, in selected mar-
kets. 

Handelsbanken aspires to have the most sat-
isfied customers while achieving higher cost 
effectiveness than its peer banks. Profitability is 
always prioritized above volume. In the bank’s 
lending activities, this entails that credit qual-
ity may never be sacrificed to achieve higher vol-
umes or margins.

peRFORManCe 2011
• Operating income rose 12% to SEK 16.5 billion 

(14.8). Total income amounted to SEK 32.8 
billion (31.3). Net interest income rose 11% to 
SEK 23.6 (21.3) billion, and net commissions 
decreased to SEK 7.7 billion (8.0).

• Loan losses decreased to SEK 0.8 billion (1.5).
• Return on equity increased to SEK 13.5% 

(12.9%).
• Continued organic growth in the U.K. reach-

ing a total of 104 branches (83) at year-end.
• Strong financial position and top ratings.

HanDelsBanken aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: Hans 
Larsson (Chairman), Sverker Martin-Löf, 
Anders Nyrén (Vice Chairman) and Fredrik 
Lundberg (Vice Chairman)
CEO: Pär Boman 
For more information on Handelsbanken, visit 
www.handelsbanken.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 19.78 17.72
Dividend per share, SEK 9.75 1 9.00
Share price on December 31, SEK
Class A shares 181.00 214.90
Class B shares 176.90 211.50
1) Proposed by the board of directors.

Total return, Class A Return index
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GroWtH tHrouGH Market-leadInG  
deVelopMent and CuStoMer foCuS 

HOlDInG

Shares: 144,577,252 shares  
Market value: SEK 12,210 M  
Share of votes: 12.2% Share of capital: 12.2%  
Share of equities portfolio: 21%

OpeRaTIOns
Sandvik is a high-technology industrial group 
with unique experience in extraction, develop-
ment and shaping of metals and other materi-
als. With a global base of operations, the com-
pany works as a local partner in 130 countries. 
The Group is structured in five business areas, 
including four core areas in which the goal is to 
have a world-leading position: Machining Solu-
tions specializes in productivity-enhancing 
products and solutions for advanced metal-
working; Mining focuses on products, solu-
tions and service for the mining industry; Con-
struction offers products for selected segments 
of the construction industry; Materials Tech-
nology manufactures high value-added and 
advanced products in selected niches. The fifth 
business area, Venture, consists mainly of 
attractive and fast-growing businesses with ties 
to Sandvik’s core areas.

Sandvik’s strength factors include major 
know-how in materials technology based on 
advanced R&D and a keen understanding of 
customers’ processes, in-house manufacturing, 
direct sales to end customers, efficient logistics 
systems and a strong company culture. Sandvik 
aspires for world class in its core areas, increased 
speed in all processes, greater focus in selected 
core businesses and a more global approach 
with strong local ties. 

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales rose 20% to SEK 94.1 billion.
• Income after net financial items amounted to 

SEK 8.2 billion (9.4). 
• Operating income pro-forma was SEK 6.5 bil-

lion for Machining Solutions, SEK 5.4 billion 
for Mining, SEK 0.3 billion for Construction, 
SEK 0.7 billion for Materials Technology, and 
SEK 1.4 billion for Venture. 

• Olof Faxander new CEO since February 2011.
• Strategic focus and new organization.
• A new organizational structure with five busi-

ness areas took effect on January 1, 2012, along 
with new Group management. 

• Acquisition of Seco Tools. 

sanDvIk aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: 
Anders Nyrén (Chairman) and Fredrik 
Lundberg
CEO: Olof Faxander
For more information on Sandvik, visit  
www.sandvik.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 4.63 5.59
Dividend per share, SEK 3.25 1 3.00
Share price on  
December 31, SEK 84.45 131.10
1) Proposed by the board of directors.
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HOlDInG

Shares: 121,506,918 Class A shares and 
1,261,939 Class B shares 
Market value: SEK 9,323 M  
Share of votes: 15.0% Share of capital: 5.8%  
Share of equities portfolio: 16%

OpeRaTIOns
Volvo Group is a world-leading supplier of com-
mercial transport solutions, with sales in some 
180 countries. The company’s products are dis-
tinguished by care for the environment and 
energy efficiency. The business is based on 
extensive knowledge about diesel engines, 
where the Group coordinates its production 
and R&D based on a joint architecture and 
shared technology. Volvo Group has experi-
enced favorable development during the last 
decade and has grown to become a truly global 
and leading player. Volvo Group is today one of 
the world’s largest manufacturers of heavy 
trucks and the third-largest maker of construc-
tion equipment, with a market-leading position 
in wheel loaders and excavators in China.

Trucks are sold under the Volvo, Renault, 
Mack and UD Trucks brands, and under the 
Eicher brand by an Indian joint-venture com-
pany. At the start of 2012 a new organizational 
structure was adopted to further improve coor-
dination in the truck operations and to create 
greater focus on development in markets, sales 
and brands. Volvo Group also offers construc-
tion equipment through the Volvo Construc-
tion Equipment unit. The Group also manufac-
tures and sells buses, engines, and aircraft 
engine components.

Volvo’s positions have strengthened in many 
markets across Asia following the acquisitions 
of UD Trucks and Lingong, and the joint ven-
ture with the Indian company Eicher in trucks 
and buses. Volvo Group also has strong posi-
tions in emerging markets in Eastern Europe 
and South America. Markets outside Western 
Europe and North America account for approx-
imately half of the Group’s total sales.

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales rose 17% to SEK 310.4 billion (264.7).
• Income after financial items rose 46% to SEK 

24.9 billion (15.5).
• Operating margin was record high 8.7% 

(6.8%).
• Strategic focus and new organization.
• New financial targets with focus on compet-

itive profitability.
• Olof Persson new CEO since September 2011.
• Process initiated to sell Volvo Aero.

vOlvO aT a GlanCe
Board member with ties to Industrivärden: Anders 
Nyrén
Chairman: Louis Schweitzer
CEO: Olof Persson
For more information on Volvo Group, visit 
www.volvogroup.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 8.75 5.36
Dividend per share, SEK 3.00 1 2.50
Share price on  
December 31, SEK
Class A shares 75.95 114.50
Class B shares 75.30 117.00
1) Proposed by the board of directors.
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HOlDInG

Shares: 43,100,000 Class A shares and 
27,700,000 B shares  
Market value: SEK 7,174 M  
Share of votes: 29.1% Share of capital: 10.0%  
Share of equities portfolio: 13%

OpeRaTIOns
SCA is a global hygiene products and paper 
company that develops, produces and markets 
personal care products, tissue, publication paper 
and forest products. SCA is Europe’s largest pri-
vate forest owner. 

Operations are global, with sales in more 
than 100 countries and manufacturing in 
approximately 40 countries. SCA produces a 
growing array of innovative and highly 
refined products and services. Roughly 60% 
of sales are hygiene products such as toilet 
paper, kitchen rolls, facial tissue, inconti-
nence products, feminine care products and 
diapers. SCA is the global market leader in 
incontinence products. SCA’s sales are based 
on a portfolio of strong brands along with 
products sold under retailers’ private labels. 
SCA has two global brands – TENA for 
incontinence products and Tork for tissue for 
the away-from-home (AFH) market – both 
generating in excess of EUR 1 billion in 
annual sales. A growing share of SCA’s 
hygiene product sales are in emerging mar-
kets. 

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales totaled SEK 106 billion (107). 
• Profit after financial items totaled SEK 8.0 

billion (8.5).
• Acquisition of Georgia-Pacific’s European 

tissue business for SEK 12.6 billion on a 
debt-free basis strengthens SCA’s position 
in Europe and generates considerable syn-
ergies.

• Several strategic investments and acquisi-
tions in the hygiene segment in emerging 
markets, including Brazil, Russia and Tur-
key.

• Business in Australasia sold to a co-owned 
joint venture, reducing net debt by SEK 3.2 
billion.

• The packaging operations are being 
divested during the first half of 2012 for 
approximately SEK 15 billion on a debt-free 
basis.

• Reorganization of hygiene operations.

sCa aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: 
Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman) and Anders 
Nyrén 
CEO: Jan Johansson
For more information on SCA, visit  
www.sca.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 0.78 7.90
Dividend per share, SEK 4.20 1 4.00
Share price on  
December 31, SEK
Class A shares 100.90 105.50
Class B shares 102.00 106.20
1) Proposed by the board of directors.
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HOlDInG

Shares: 80,708,520 Class A shares  
Market value: SEK 5,613 M  
Share of votes: 14.3% Share of capital: 2.5%  
Share of equities portfolio: 10%

OpeRaTIOns
Ericsson is the world’s leading supplier of com-
munication networks and related services for 
telecom operators. The company is a global 
player with customers in more than 180 coun-
tries and one of the few companies that can offer 
end-to-end solutions for all major mobile com-
munication standards. Ericsson is the world 
leader in mobile networks and is at the forefront 
of the 4G (LTE) global mobile broadband 
standard. Through long-term relationships 
with all major operators, Ericsson delivers the 
networks for more than 40% of the world’s 
mobile subscribers. Today Ericsson has a strong 
product portfolio in mobile systems as well as 
in fixed line networks and business support sys-
tems. Operations are conducted primarily in 
three business segments. Networks develops 
and supplies equipment and software for mobile 
networks and fixed-line networks. Multimedia 
develops and supplies software-based solutions 
for TV, media applications and business sup-
port systems for telecom operators. Global Ser-
vices offers services in installation, integration, 
operation and support. The Services segment, 
in which Ericsson has a leading position, 
accounts for 40% of consolidated sales. 

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales rose 12% to SEK 226.9 M (203.3).
• Income after net financial items rose 15% to 

SEK 18.1 billion (15.8). 
• Further strengthening of position in mobile 

broadband through a leading product offer-
ing and successful utilization of market 
dynamics.

• Strengthened offering of operational support 
to telecom operators in the Multimedia busi-
ness area through acquisition of U.S. com-
pany Telcordia for SEK 7 billion.

• Leif Johansson new Chairman since April 
2011.

• Sale of interest in Sony Ericsson to Sony for 
approximately SEK 9.5 billion.

eRICssOn aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: 
Sverker Martin-Löf (Vice Chairman)  
and Anders Nyrén
Chairman: Leif Johansson
CEO: Hans Vestberg
For more information on Ericsson,  
visit www.ericsson.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 3.77 3.46
Dividend per share, SEK 2.50 1 2.25
Share price on  
December 31, SEK
Class A shares 69.55 74.00
Class B shares 70.40 78.15
1) Proposed by the board of directors.

World leader In teleCoM InduStrY
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Shares: 56,105,972 Class A shares and 754,985 
Class B shares  
Market value: SEK 3,443 M  
Share of votes: 22.6% Share of capital: 17.6%  
Share of equities portfolio: 6%

OpeRaTIOns
SSAB is a leading producer of high-strength 
steel with a base in the Nordic countries and 
North America. Niche products such as high-
strength steel account for approximately 37% of 
total output, and this share will grow over time. 
In Sweden, production is integrated in blast 
furnace processes, while in the U.S., produc-
tion is based on scrap metal and is conducted in 
modern, highly efficient electric arc furnaces. 

SSAB’s steel operations have been success-
fully developed through a conscious specializa-
tion strategy aimed at fortifying the company’s 
position as a leading producer of high-strength 
steel. SSAB’s steel creates productivity and envi-
ronmental benefits by making customers’ prod-
ucts lighter, stronger and more durable. SSAB 
has achieved strong market positions in its 
selected product segments. In the sheet seg-
ment, SSAB specializes in advanced high-
strength sheet, which is used in the engineer-
ing industry and by container manufacturers, 
for example. In the plate segment, SSAB is the 
world’s leading producer of quenched steels, 
i.e., plate with extra high strength and good 
weldability and formability. Quenched steels 
are used in construction equipment, mining 
equipment and cranes, among other things. 
SSAB works according to a goal-oriented strat-
egy aimed at accelerating growth for its niche 
products and enhancing the profitability of 
existing plants. 

The company is also striving to strengthen 
its positions in the Asian market, with special 
focus on China. A completed investment pro-
gram for quenched steels creates a good base for 
continued expansion in North America and 
emerging markets. 
 
peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales rose 12% to SEK 44.6 billion (39.9).
• Income after net financial items increased sub-

stantially to SEK 2.0 billion (0.7).
• The share of niche products increased to 37% 

(32%).
• Strategic investment program, which has been 

under way for a couple of years, to increase 
capacity in quenched steels and strengthen 
presence in China.

• Martin Lindqvist new CEO since January 
2011. 

• An efficiency program in Europe will lead to 
a cost base reduction of approx. SEK 0.8 bil-
lion.

ssaB aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: 
Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman) and Anders 
Nyrén
CEO: Martin Lindqvist
For more information on SSAB, visit  
www.ssab.com

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 4.82 2.23
Dividend per share, SEK 2.00 1 2.00
Share price on  
December 31, SEK
Class A shares 60.65 113.00
Class B shares 52.80 99.15
1) Proposed by the board of directors.

leader In HIGH-StrenGtH Steel 
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Shares: 12,667,500 Class A shares and 
15,698,806 B shares  
Market value: SEK 3,234 M  
Share of votes: 23.7% Share of capital: 6.8%  
Share of equities portfolio: 6%

OpeRaTIOns
Skanska is one of the largest project development 
and construction companies in the world, with 
leading positions in its multiple home markets 
of Europe, the U.S. and Latin America. Its mis-
sion is to develop, build and maintain the phys-
ical environment for living, traveling and work-
ing. Skanska’s overall goal is to generate 
customer and shareholder value, which is cre-
ated in well implemented and profitable projects. 
The company’s size and global presence create 
operational synergies in know-how, purchasing 
and product development. Financial synergies 
are created by investing cash flow from the con-
struction operations in the company’s project 
development business, generating a favorable 
return on capital. Operations are conducted in 
four business divisions: Construction, Residen-
tial Development, Commercial Development 
and Infrastructure Development. Construction 
involves both non-residential and residential 
building construction and civil construction 
and is Skanska’s largest business division. The 
other business divisions work with value-creat-
ing product development. Residential Develop-
ment develops residential projects for immedi-
ate sale primarily to private persons. Commercial 
Property Development initiates, develops, leases 
and divests commercial property projects, with 
a focus on office buildings, shopping malls and 
logistics properties. Infrastructure Develop-
ment develops and invests in privately financed 
infrastructure projects, such as highways, hos-
pitals, schools and power plants. Skanska strives 
to be the leading builder and project developer 
in its markets as well as in environmentally 
adapted and energy-efficient solutions.

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales amounted to SEK 122.5 billion (121.7).
• Income after financial items amounted to 

SEK 9.1 billion (5.3). 
• Operating income for Construction was SEK  

3.5 billion (4.4), Commercial property develop-
ment was SEK 1.2 billion (0.9),  Infrastructure 
development was SEK 4.7 billion (0.3) and Res-
idential development was SEK 0.3 billion (0.6).

• Construction contract for the New Karolin-
ska Hospital in Stockholm worth SEK 14.5 bil-
lion, for which Skanska is a half-owner of the 
consortium that will build and thereafter run 
the hospital for 25 years.

• Several large construction contracts in the U.S.
• Sale of ownership in Chile’s Autopista Central 

Highway for SEK 5.4 billion completed, gen-
erating capital gain of SEK 4.5 billion after tax.

skanska aT a GlanCe
Board members with ties to Industrivärden: 
Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman), Stuart 
 Graham (Vice Chairman) and Fredrik 
 Lundberg
CEO: Johan Karlström
For more information on Skanska, visit  
www.skanska.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 19.72 9.54
Dividend per share, SEK 6.00 1 12.00
Share price on  
December 31, SEK2

Class B shares 114.00 133.30
1) Proposed by the board of directors.
2)  Skanska’s Class A shares, which are unlisted, have been assigned the same 

value as the Class B shares. 

leadInG proJeCt deVelopMent and  
ConStruCtIon CoMpanY 

Total return, Class B Return index

350
300

200

250

100

50

150

Index

skanska’s stock

02 03 0504 06 07 08 09 10 11

30,000

60,000

90,000

120,000

150,000

11100908070605040302

Net sales Income after financial items

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000
SEK MSEK M

net sales and income



2 9a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 e q u I t I e S  p o r t f o l I o

HOlDInG

Shares: 14,727,800 shares  
Market value: SEK 2,695 M  
Share of votes: 36.8% Share of capital: 36.8%  
Share of equities portfolio: 5%

OpeRaTIOns
Indutrade is a technology sales group that man-
ufactures, markets and sells components, sys-
tems and services with a high-tech content to 
industrial customers in selected niches. In addi-
tion to the technology sales business is a grow-
ing share of own manufacturing companies 
with proprietary brands. The focus is on niche 
products and services for customers with a 
repetitive need, which provides stability to the 
business and its flow of revenues. The organiza-
tion is decentralized, with more than 160 com-
panies in 25 countries which create value for 
their customers by structuring the value chain 
and enhancing the efficiency of their customers’ 
use of technological components and systems. 
For Indutrade’s suppliers, value is created 
through access to an effective sales organization 
with high technical expertise and established 
customer relationships. The aim is to make 
cooperation with Indutrade the most profitable 
way for suppliers to sell their products in the 
geographic markets in which Indutrade is active. 
Indutrade’s most important product areas are 
valves, hydraulics and industrial equipment, 
measuring and analysis instruments, filters and 
process technology, pipe systems, automation, 
glass/plastics/ceramics, pumps, chemical-tech-
nical products, adhesives, medical technology 
and service. Key customer segments include 
engineering, energy, water/wastewater, phar-
maceuticals, construction, and pulp and paper. 
The aim is to grow the business organically as 
well as through a tried-and-tested acquisition 
strategy involving continuous acquisitions of 
profitable companies.

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales increased by 19% to SEK 8.0 billion 

(6.7)
• Income after net financial items totaled SEK 

0.7 billion (0.6).
• A total of 12 companies were acquired in 2011, 

with combined net sales of SEK 0.7 billion.
• Acquisition of the Swiss company Abima, 

active in technical problem solving, creates 
platform for further expansion in Central 
Europe.

• The operating margin (EBITA) was 11.5% 
(10.4%), which exceeded the long-term target 
of at least 10% over a business cycle.

InDuTRaDe aT a GlanCe
Board member with ties to Industrivärden: 
Bengt Kjell (Chairman)
CEO: Johnny Alvarsson
For more information on Indutrade, visit 
www.indutrade.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 13.50 10.18
Dividend per share, SEK 6.75 1 5.10
Share price on  
December 31, SEK 183.00 232.00
1) Proposed by the board of directors. 
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Shares: 4,408,046 Class B shares  
Market value: SEK 937 M  
Share of votes: 10.0% Share of capital: 12.6%  
Share of equities portfolio: 2%

 

OpeRaTIOns
Höganäs is the world’s leading supplier of metal 
powder, with customers in 75 countries. The 
Components business area produces press pow-
der for component manufacturing, mainly in 
the automotive industry, but also in the con-
sumer products industry. Metal powder is used 
in engines, gearboxes and electric tools, among 
other things. The Consumables business area 
covers metal powder used in processes, such as 
in producing metals, as additives in chemical 
processes, and for water and air treatment. In 
terms of application areas, Höganäs’s metal 
powders have particularly large potential in sur-
face treatment, soldering, electromagnetic 
applications, filters and injection-molded com-
ponents. At its core, Höganäs’s potential lies in 
the major opportunities presented by metal 
powder to develop less costly, more light-
weighted and more energy-efficient compo-
nents in many areas. Through its new prototype 
center, Höganäs is driving development 
towards greater use of metal powder in collab-
oration with customers and end users. 

peRFORManCe 2011
• Net sales rose 6% to SEK 7.1 billion (6.7).
• Income after financial items amounted to 

SEK 1.0 billion (1.1).
• Continued strong development in emerging 

markets.
• Substantial investments in component solu-

tions for new electromagnetic applications 
and powder-based cogs for gearboxes.

• New mixing plant in Korea strengthens posi-
tion in Asia. 

HöGanäs aT a GlanCe
Board member with ties to Industrivärden: 
Bengt Kjell 
Chairman: Anders G. Carlberg
CEO: Alrik Danielsson
For more information on Höganäs,  
visit www.hoganas.com.

keY DaTa 2011 2010
Earnings per share, SEK 21.90 23.11
Dividend per share, SEK 10.00 1 10.00
Share price on  
December 31, SEK
Class B shares 212.50 263.00
1) Proposed by the board of directors. 

World leader In Metal poWder teCHnoloGY

Photo: Johan Peyron
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The Board of Directors and President of AB Industrivärden (publ) here-
with submit their annual report and consolidated financial statements 
for the 2011 fiscal year, the company’s sixty-seventh year of operation. 
The following corporate governance report, income statements, balance 
sheets, statements of changes in shareholders’ equity, statements of cash 
flows and notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this 
annual report and have been audited by the Company’s auditor.

Industrivärden is one of the Nordic region’s leading holding compa-
nies, taking an active ownership role in a concentrated selection of listed 
Nordic companies with good development potential. The goal is to gen-
erate high growth in net asset value over time and thereby give a total 
return to shareholders which is higher than average for the Stockholm 
Stock Exchange.

Corporate governance report
Industrivärden’s governing bodies consist of general shareholders’ meet-
ings, the Board of Directors, the President and CEO, and the auditor. 
At the Annual General Meeting, the shareholders elect a board and audi-
tor. The Board appoints the President and CEO as well as Executive Vice 
President. The auditor audits the financial statements as well as the 
Board’s and CEO’s administration. The Nominating Committee is 
tasked with nominating directors and an auditor for election by the 
Annual General Meeting.

Industrivärden adheres to the Swedish Code of Corporate Govern-
ance. The Corporate Governance Report pertains to the 2011 fiscal year 
and has been audited by the Company’s auditor.

ShareS and ShareholderS
Information on Industrivärden’s stock and shareholders is provided in 
the Industrivärden Share Data section on pages 20–21.

General ShareholderS’ meetinGS
General shareholders’ meetings are Industrivärden’s highest governing 
body. At the Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is held within six 
months after the end of the fiscal year, resolutions are made concerning 
recommendations and proposals set forth by the Nominating Commit-
tee, the Board of Directors and shareholders. Among other things, the 
income statement and balance sheet are adopted, a decision is made 
regarding the dividend, the Board of Directors and – where applicable – 
the auditor is elected and their fees are determined, and other items of 
legally ordained business are conducted.

nominatinG Committee
The members of the Nominating Committee ahead of the 2011 Annual 
General Meeting were Bo Damberg (the Jan Wallander and Tom Hede-
lius Foundation, and others), Ulf Lundahl (L E Lundbergföretagen), 
Sverker Martin-Löf (Chairman of Industrivärden), Anders Nyberg (SCA 

Pension Foundations and others), and Håkan Sandberg (committee chair 
– Handelsbanken Pension Foundation and Handelsbanken Pension 
Fund). The same members have been appointed for nomination work 
ahead of the 2012 Annual General Meeting.
 
memberS of the board of direCtorS
Industrivärden’s board of directors, which was appointed by the 2011 
Annual General Meeting, has seven members. The Chairman of the 
Board, Sverker Martin-Löf, is a former CEO of SCA and is the Chairman 
of SCA, Skanska and SSAB, among other positions. Christian Caspar 
has served in several senior positions for more than 30 years with  
McKinsey and is a director of Stena and Bonnier. Boel Flodgren is a Pro-
fessor of Business Law and former President of Lund University. Stuart 
Graham is a director of PPL Corporation and Skanska, where he is also 
a former CEO. Hans Larsson is Chairman of Handelsbanken. Fredrik 
Lundberg is CEO of L E Lundbergföretagen and Chairman of Holmen 
and Hufvudstaden. Industrivärden’s CEO, Anders Nyrén, is a former 
Executive Vice President and CFO of Skanska and former Executive Vice 
President and CFO of Securum, among other positions. At the 2011 
Annual General Meeting, Olof Faxander, Finn Johnsson and Lennart 
Nilsson declined re-election, and Christian Caspar and Stuart Graham 
were elected as new board members.

A presentation of other significant assignments held by the members 
of the Board can be found on page 49. A more detailed description of the 
board members’ professional experience can be found on Industrivärden’s 
website.

independenCe ConditionS
Independence conditions concerning the members of the Board of Direc-
tors are outlined in a table on page 32.

dutieS and work of the board of direCtorS
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Company’s organization 
and administration, and is also responsible for making decisions on stra-
tegic matters. The Board’s work is conducted according to a yearly plan. 
Each meeting follows an agenda, which together with the underlying 
documentation is distributed to the directors in advance of each board 
meeting. In general, the Board deals with matters of material impor-
tance, such as:
• setting the Board’s work plan, including the CEO’s instructions. These 

instructions cover, among other things, investment rules for equities 
and derivative instruments which indicate the maximum amounts for 
the CEO’s authority between board meetings to decide on purchases 
and sales of stocks and derivative instruments;

• strategic matters regarding the forms and application of active owner-
ship; and 

• major purchases and sales of listed stocks.

board of directors’ report  
with Corporate GoVernanCe report
reGiStered number Se 556043–4200 



 3 2a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 b o a r d  o f  d i r e c t o r s ’  r e p o r t 

The Board has a central role in Industrivärden’s business model for active 
ownership, which is described at length on pages 10–17.

In addition to the statutory board meeting, which is held in connec-
tion with the Annual General Meeting, the Board normally meets four 
times a year (regular meetings). Extra meetings are called when neces-
sary.

The statutory meeting deals with adoption of the Board’s work plan, 
decisions on the Company’s signatories, appointment of persons to check 
the minutes of board meetings, and appointment of committee members.

In connection with the board meeting that deals with the annual 
financial statements, the Board of Directors’ Report, the proposed dis-
tribution of earnings and the year-end report, the Company’s auditor 
submits a report to the Audit Committee on the auditors’ observations 
and remarks from their audit.

The regular meetings cover a number of set agenda items. These 
include, among other things, a report on the current financial result of 
operations and on the development of net asset value and the perfor-
mance of the equities portfolio, including detailed information on equity 
transactions that have been carried out. Reporting also includes a 
description of the portfolio companies’ performance and macroeco-
nomic conditions. In addition, a special review is normally conducted 
of one or more of the portfolio companies and of potential investments. 
At one or more board meetings during the year, the management of one 
of the portfolio companies presents a report on their company’s devel-
opment.

Committees appointed by the Board are tasked with conducting 
drafting work on matters ahead of board decisions. Each year the Board 
evaluates the financial reporting it receives from the Company and makes 
demands on its content and structure in order to ensure the quality of 
the financial reporting.

The Board’s work is evaluated yearly in a structured process con-
ducted under the direction of the Chairman of the Board.

Board decisions are based on extensive documentation and are made 
following a discussion that is monitored by the Chairman. The Com-
pany Secretary is attorney Sven Unger, from the law firm Mannheimer 
Swartling.

important matterS for the board in 2011
The Board held a total of eight meetings in 2011. The most important 
duties for the Board concerned matters related to the holdings in the 
equities portfolio and strategic planning. In addition, the Board decided 
to carry out an issue of convertible bonds and to use the proceeds from 
the issue to further increase Industrivärden’s ownership positions in 
portfolio companies. 

CompenSation Committee
The Board has appointed a compensation committee, which held two 
meetings. The guidelines for compensation of senior executives were 
adopted by the 2011 Annual General Meeting. The Compensation Com-
mittee draws up recommendations for the CEO’s compensation and 
decides on compensation for the other members of the executive man-
agement. The members of the Compensation Committee are Chairman 
of the Board Sverker Martin-Löf (committee chair) and board member 
Hans Larsson. No compensation was paid for the directors’ work on the 
committee.

propoSed GuidelineS for exeCutiVe CompenSation
The Board has issued the following recommendation for decision by the 
2012 Annual General Meeting: Compensation paid to the CEO and 
other members of the executive management shall consist of a base sal-
ary, a variable salary, other benefits and pension. The total compensa-
tion should be competitive and in line with the going rate in the market, 
and shall be commensurate with the executive’s responsibilities and 
authority. The variable salary consists of a short-term variable salary com-
ponent (yearly) and a long-term variable salary component. The short-
term variable salary component is based on individual performance, shall 
have a cap, and never exceed the base salary. The long-term variable sal-
ary is based on the long-term performance of the Company’s stock and 
shall have a cap. None of the variable components shall be pensionable. 
Upon cancellation of an executive’s employment contract by the Com-
pany, a two-year notice period applies. No severance pay should be pay-
able. Pension benefits shall be either defined-benefit or defined-contri-
bution, or a combination of both, and give the members of the executive 

attendanCe, feeS and independenCe ConditionS
Attendance at meetings

Name Year elected Board
Audit  

Committee

Compen-
sation  

Committee Board
Audit 

Comm.
Comp. 

Comm.
Fee, 2011 

SEK 0003

Non-independence 
in relation to  

Industrivärden4

Non-independence 
in relation to major 

shareholders5

Sverker Martin-Löf  1 2002 Chairman Member Chairman All All All 1,500
Christian Caspar 2011 Director Member – All 2 All 2 – 500
Boel Flodgren 2002 Director Member – All All – 500
Stuart Graham 2011 Director Member – All 2 All 2 – 500
Hans Larsson 2010 Director Chairman Member All All All 500 X
Fredrik Lundberg 2004 Director Member – All All – 500 X
Anders Nyrén 2001 Director – – All – – – X
Total 4,000
1) Sverker Martin-Löf was appointed as Vice Chairman in 2002 and as Chairman in 2010.
2) Christian Caspar and Stuart Graham were elected to the Board at the Annual General Meeting on May 5, 2011.
3) Pertains to decision made at 2011 Annual General Meeting. No fee is paid for committee work. 
4) Anders Nyrén is President and CEO of Industrivärden and the only executive director of the Company. 
5)  Fredrik Lundberg is President and CEO of L E Lundbergföretagen, which is a major shareholder of Industrivärden. Hans Larsson serves as Chairman of foundations that are  

major shareholders of Industrivärden.
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management the right to retire from 60 or 65 years of age, depending on 
their position. The Board may depart from these guidelines if there are 
special reasons for doing so in individual cases. The proposal is gener-
ally consistent with the guidelines agreed on at the 2011 Annual General 
Meeting.

audit Committee
The Audit Committee, which held two meetings during the year, 
includes all of the members of the Board except for the CEO. Hans Lars-
son is chair of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is tasked 
with reviewing the routines for the Company’s risk management, gov-
ernance and control, and financial reporting. The Company’s investment 
instructions and finance policy are adopted each year by the Board. The 
Audit Committee maintains regular contact with the Company’s audi-
tor to ensure that internal and external reporting meet established 
requirements and to discuss the scope and focus of the audit work. The 
auditor reports its observations to the Audit Committee in connection 
with the audit of the year-end financial statements. No compensation 
was paid to the Audit Committee members for their work on the com-
mittee.

auditor
At the 2010 Annual General Meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers AB was 
elected as the Company’s auditor for a term through the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting. The chief auditor is Anders Lundin, Authorized Pub-
lic Accountant.

In 2011 the half-year interim report was reviewed by the Company’s 
auditor. Against this background and in view of how the financial report-
ing has been organized in general, the Board finds no need for a dedi-
cated review function in the form of an internal audit unit. 

riSkS and unCertaintieS
The dominant risk in Industrivärden’s business is share price risk, i.e., 
the risk of a decrease in value caused by changes in share prices. A 1% 
change in the share price of the holdings in the equities portfolio as per 
December 31, 2011, would have affected the market value by approxi-
mately +/– SEK 600 M. A detailed description of the risks associated 
with Industrivärden’s business is provided on pages 40–41.

internal Control of finanCial reportinG
Against the background of the share price risk described above, the most 
important control process in Industrivärden’s business consists of the con-

tinuous monitoring of its value exposure in the equities portfolio. Indus-
trivärden’s internal control is therefore primarily focused on ensuring the 
reliability of valuations of outstanding equity and derivative positions and 
of the reporting of purchases and sales of stocks and other securities. 

According to the Swedish Companies Act, the Board is responsible 
for internal control. The instructions regulating the delegation of duties 
between the Board and the CEO lay out investment rules for equities 
and derivative instruments as well as a finance policy. Decision-making 
channels, authority and responsibility are defined by a set of investment 
rules as well as finance instructions. Industrivärden has a specially 
appointed investment committee that makes regular decisions on invest-
ment matters within the framework of the CEO’s mandate. 

Other processes with a bearing on the financial reporting are regu-
lated by Industrivärden’s insider rules, information policy, confidenti-
ality policy and other policies. Industrivärden’s greatest risk consists of 
value exposure in the equities portfolio. The predominant risk in work 
processes pertains to potential errors in the accounting and reporting of 
equity transactions. Industrivärden continuously assesses the risks in 
the handling of equity transactions, which are discussed with the audi-
tor and affect the structure of internal risk control. 

Control activities pertaining to the equities portfolio include, among 
other things, approval of all business transactions, registration in inter-
nal systems not later than the day after the transaction date, follow-up 
of equity transactions to ensure that they are in accordance with deci-
sions made by the Investment Committee, and checks to make sure that 
the value of purchases and sales of stocks and of underlying stocks in 
derivative transactions is within the scope of established exposure lim-
its. All equity positions are followed up on a continuous basis in real 
time. The Investment Committee, which is made up of the executive 
management, continuously follows up investment decisions that have 
been made and checks to ensure that they have been executed correctly. 
Minutes are recorded of Investment Committee meetings.

inSider ruleS
Apart from adherence to applicable insider rules and stipulations on pub-
lic disclosure regarding transactions in shares of the portfolio compa-
nies, Industrivärden has internal rules that prohibit employees from trad-
ing in shares in the companies in which Industrivärden has major 
shareholdings for 30 days prior to publication of interim reports and the 
year-end report, including the day of reporting. All employees of Indus-
trivärden are required to report their total holdings of financial instru-
ments in the active portfolio companies in an internal register.
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Operations
SiGnifiCant eVentS
In January convertible bonds were issued directed at European institu-
tions. The loan is worth EUR 550 M, has a term until 2017 and carries a 
coupon of 1.875%. The conversion price is SEK 162.00, which represents 
a premium over net asset value at the time of the issue.

Part of the proceeds from the convertible issue has been used for 
investments in the equities portfolio. Net purchases totaled SEK 4.5 bil-
lion and included 30 million shares in Volvo for SEK 2.9 billion. 

net aSSet Value
During the year, net asset value decreased from SEK 57.7 billion, or SEK 
149 per share, to SEK 40.1 billion, or SEK 104 per share, or by –28% 
re invested dividend included. The components making up net asset value 
are shown in the following table:

SEK billion SEK per share

12/31/2011 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2010
Equities portfolio 56.9 71.1 147 184

Interest-bearing net debt –16.8 –13.4 –43 –35
Net asset value 40.1 57.7 104 149
Net asset value after full 
conversion 48.7 61.8 106 144

Equities portfolio
The market value of the equities portfolio at year-end was SEK 56,903 M 
(71,092). The market value exceeded cost by SEK 18,389 M (37,743). Dur-
ing the year, stocks were purchased for SEK 4,461 M (2,547), net. 

Taking into account purchases and sales, the value of the portfolio 
decreased by 26% during the year (increased by 28%). The stock market 
index (OMXSPI) fell 17% (rose 23%). The total return for the equities 
portfolio was –23% (31%), compared with –14 % (27%) for the return index 
(SIXRX).

Short-term derivative transactions and equity trading
The Group company Nordinvest AB conducts short-term equity trading. 
Income totaled SEK 32 M (17). Industrivärden’s total income from short-
term derivative transactions and equity trading amounted to SEK 152 M 
(114).

Interest-bearing net debt
At year-end 2011, convertible loans amounted to SEK 8,555 M (4,155) and other 
interest-bearing loans to SEK 8,225 M (9,246), whereby the total net debt 
amounted to SEK 16,780 M (13,401). The net debt-equities ratio was 29.5% 
(18.9%), and after full conversion of convertible loans, the net debt-equities 
ratio was 14.5% (13.0%) at the same point in time. 

Parent Company
The Parent Company reports income after financial items of SEK  –12,959 M 
(11,141). Shareholders’ equity amounted to SEK 29,411 M (43,919) at year-end. 

Proposed dividend
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of SEK 4.50 (4.00) per share. 
The proposed dividend corresponds to 5.9% of the Parent Company’s 
shareholders’ equity and 4.4% of the Group’s shareholders’ equity. Of 
shareholders’ equity 26%, or SEK 7.5 billion in the Parent Company, and 
49%, or SEK 19.1 billion in the Group, is attributable to the fair valua-
tion of assets and liabilities. Industrivärden’s dividend policy is to pay 
the shareholders a dividend yield that is higher than the average for the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange. The Board finds that the proposed dividend 
is well balanced in view of the objectives, scope and risk of operations, 
as well as with respect to the Company’s ability to meet its future obli-
gations. According to the proposal, the total dividend payout amounts 
to SEK 1,738 M (1,545).

ShareholdinGS 2011

SEK M Dividend received 2011 Change in value
Net purchase/sale (–)  

per holding Market value, 12/31/2011 Total return, %

Handelsbanken 632 –2,470 728 12,274 –12

Sandvik 428 –6,664 724 12,210 –34

Volvo 267 –4,263 2,873 9,323 –32

SCA 283 –330 17 7,174 0

Ericsson 175 –355 220 5,613 –3

SSAB 114 –2,965 61 3,443 –45

Skanska 385 –685 –362 3,234 –6

Indutrade 75 –722 – 2,695 –19

Höganäs 44 –196 199 937 –16

Total, equities portfolio 2,403 –18,650 4,461 56,903 –23
SIXRX –14
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proposed distribution  
of earnings

According to the Consolidated Balance Sheet, retained earnings for the year including net income for the year amount to SEK 37,206 M, of which SEK 
–15,647 M consists of net income for the year.

The following earnings of the Parent Company are at the disposal of the 
Annual General Meeting:

Retained earnings according to decision 
by the 2011 AGM  SEK 40,346 M
Net income for the year  SEK –12,959 M

 SEK 27,387 M

The Board of Directors and President propose that the earnings be dis-
posed of as follows:

To the shareholders, a dividend of SEK 4.50
per share, totaling   SEK 1,738 M
To be carried forward SEK 25,649 M

 SEK 27,387 M

The Board of Directors and President certify that the Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

referred to in European Parliament and Council of Europe Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of July 19, 2002, on application of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, that disclosures herein give a true and fair view of the Parent Company’s and Group’s financial position and 
results of operations, and that the statutory Administration Report provides a fair review of the Parent Company’s and Group’s operations, 

financial position and results of operations and describes material risks and uncertainties facing the Parent Company and the companies 
included in the Group. 

The Group’s and Parent Company’s earnings and position in general are shown in the following income statements, balance sheets, statements 
of changes in shareholders’ equity, statements of cash flows and notes to the financial statements. Adoption of the Consolidated and Parent 

Company Income Statements and Balance Sheets will take place at the Annual General Meeting on May 4, 2012.

Stockholm, February 8, 2012

 Sverker Martin-Löf  Christian Caspar Boel Flodgren 
  Chairman  Director  Director 

 Stuart Graham Hans Larsson  Fredrik Lundberg
 Director  Director  Director 

Anders Nyrén
President and CEO, Director

 Our Audit Report was submitted on February 8, 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Anders Lundin
Authorized Public Accountant
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income statements

balance sheets

Group Parent Company 
SEK M Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
Dividend income from stocks 1 2,403 1,379 1,502 567
Change in value of stocks  etc. 2 –17,504 13,991 –14,177 11,072
Short-term derivative transactions and equity trading 4 152 114 85 79
Management costs 5, 8, 9 –105 –94 –105 –94
Other income and expenses 0 2 0 –10
Operating income –15,054 15,392 –12,695 11,614
Financial income 6 10 19 84 19

Financial expenses 6 –603 –541 –348 –492
Income after financial items –15,647 14,870 –12,959 11,141
Tax 10 – – – –
Net income for the year –15,647 14,870 –12,959 11,141
Earnings per share, SEK 11 –40.51 38.50
Earnings per share after dilution, SEK 11 –40.51 37.37

statement of comprehensiVe  
income 
Net income for the year –15,647 14,870 –12,959 11,141
Change in hedging reserve 5 72 –4 171
Comprehensive income for the year –15,642 14,942 –12,963 11,312

Group Parent Company 
SEK M Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 12 52 27 – –
Equities 13 56,903 71,092 28,083 36,138
Shares in associated companies 13, 14, 16 – – 6,677 11,159
Shares in subsidiaries 15, 16 – – 4,945 4,545
Non-current receivables – 180 – 180
Total non-current assets 56,955 71,299 39,705 52,022
Other current receivables 17 104 72 1,861 972
Short-term equity investments – 176 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 57 0 53 0
Total current assets 161 248 1,914 972
TOTAL ASSETS 57,116 71,547 41,619 52,994

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Capital stock 966 966 966 966
Other capital contribution/Statutory reserve 1,062 1,062 1,062 1,062
Reserves/Fair value reserve –94 –99 –4 –
Retained earnings 52,853 39,528 40,346 30,750
Net income for the year –15,647 14,870 –12,959 11,141
Total shareholders’ equity 39,140 56,327 29,411 43,919
Convertible loan 18, 20 8,555 4,155 8,555 4,155
Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities 19, 20 5,392 6,968 681 868
Non-current noninterest-bearing liabilities 21 527 1,344 527 1,344
Total non-current liabilities 14,474 12,467 9,763 6,367
Current interest-bearing liabilities 22 2,923 2,458 1,958 2,426
Other current liabilities 23 579 295 487 282

Total current liabilities 3,502 2,753 2,445 2,708
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 57,116 71,547 41,619 52,994

Contingent liabilities 0 0 5,264 6,396

group and parent company 
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shareholders’ equity
group and parent company 

Group
Capital 

stock1

Other 
capital con-

tribution Reserves2  
Retained 
earnings

Net income 
for the year

Total share- 
holders’ 

equity
Shareholders’ equity as per adopted balance sheet at December 31, 2009 966 1,062 –171 20,018 20,669 42,544
Net income for the year – – – – 14,870 14,870
Change in hedging reserve, fair value gains – – 72 – – 72
Total comprehensive income – – 72 – 14,870 14,942
Transfer of previous year’s net income – – – 20,669 –20,669 –
Dividend to shareholders – – – –1,159 – –1,159
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS PER DECEMBER 31, 2010 966 1,062 –99 39,528 14,870 56,327
Net income for the year – – – – –15,647 –15,647
Change in hedging reserve, fair value gains – – 5 – – 5
Total comprehensive income – – 5 – –15,647 –15,642
Transfer of previous year’s net income – – – 14,870 –14,870 –
Dividend to shareholders3 – – – –1,545 – –1,545
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS PER DECEMBER 31, 2011 966 1,062 –94 52,853 –15,647 39,140

Parent Company
Capital 

stock
Statutory

reserve
Fair value 

reserve
Retained 
earnings

Net income 
for the year

Total share- 
holders’ 

equity
Shareholders’ equity as per adopted balance sheet at December 31, 2009 966 1,062 –171 21,008 –10,901 33,766
Net income for the year – – – – 11,141 11,141
Change in hedging reserve, fair value gains – – 72 – – 72
Change in hedging reserve, transfer to income statement – expense – – 99 – – 99
Total comprehensive income – – 171 – 11,141 11,312
Transfer of previous year’s net income – – – 10,901 –10,901 –
Dividend to shareholders – – – –1,159 – –1,159
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS PER DECEMBER 31, 2010 966 1,062 0 30,750 11,141 43,919
Net income for the year – – – – –12,959 –12,959
Change in hedging reserve, fair value gains – – –4 – – –4
Total comprehensive income – – –4 – –12,959 –12,963
Transfer of previous year’s net income – – – 11,141 –11,141 –
Dividend to shareholders – – – –1,545 – –1,545
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS PER DECEMBER 31, 2011 966 1,062 –4 40,346 –12,959 29,411

1  As per December 31, 2011, there were 386,271,224 outstanding shares, of which 268,530,640 were Class A shares 
and 117,740,584 were Class C shares. The share quota value is SEK 2.50. See also the Industrivärden share data section, pages 20–21.

2) The hedging reserve pertains to fair valuation of interest swaps used for cash flow hedging.
3) The dividend in 2011 was SEK 4.00 per share.



 3 8a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1 s t a t e m e n t s  o f  c a s h  f l o w s

statements of cash flows
group and parent company 

Group Parent Company 
SEK M Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Dividend income from stocks 1 2,403 1,379 1,502 567
Cash flow from short-term derivate transactions and equity trading 367 78 124 139
Management costs paid –108 –103 –103 –101
Other items affecting cash flow –6 24 13 28
Cash flow from operating activities before financial items 2,656 1,378 1,536 633

Interest received 24 26 47 23
Interest paid –607 –576 –303 –526
Other financial items –1 –1 –1 –1
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,072 827 1,279 129

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases/sales of listed stocks 3, 16 –4,461 –2,547 –2,804 –2,990
Other – – – –8
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES –4,461 –2,547 –2,804 –2,998

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans raised and amortization of debt –1,006 –1,787 –1,225 –7,987
Issue of convertible debentures 4,800 5,026 4,800 5,026
Investments in interest bearing assets 184 –271 184 –271
Change in financing of subsidiaries – – –249 –21
Shareholder contributions and other items – – –400 7,370
Dividend paid –1,545 –1,159 –1,545 –1,159
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,433 1,810 1,565 2,959

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR 44 90 40 90

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 0 0 0 0
Exchange rate difference in cash and cash equivalents 13 –90 13 –90
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 57 0 53 0
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accounting policies

applied ruleS
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conform-
ity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the EU and with application of RFR 1. The annual report for the  
Parent Company has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act and with application of RFR 2. The most impor-
tant accounting policies applied are specified below. Unless otherwise 
stated, these are unchanged compared with preceding years. New or 
revised IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations have not had any effect on the 
Group’s or Parent Company’s result of operations or position.

baSiS of preSentation
Industrivärden applies the cost method except for equity investments 
and derivative instruments, which are mainly stated at fair value through 
profit or loss. In the consolidated accounting, Industrivärden has elected 
to report continuing changes in the market value of all holdings of listed 
shares and equity derivatives through profit or loss. 

prinCipleS of ConSolidation
The consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared using 
the purchase method, apply – in addition to the Parent Company – to all 
companies in which the Parent Company directly or indirectly has a con-
trolling interest.

aSSoCiate aCCountinG
Associated companies are companies in which Industrivärden has a sig-
nificant but not controlling interest. Shares in associated companies are 
carried at market value. The capital gain or loss generated upon the sale 
of shares in associated companies is calculated accordingly. 

reCoGnition of inCome
Dividend income from stocks is recognized from the day on which trad-
ing takes place ex-rights. Changes in value of financial assets and deriv-
ative instruments are recognized on a current basis through profit or loss 
under the heading Change in value of stocks, etc.

reportinG of finanCial aSSetS and liabilitieS
Financial assets and liabilities are classified in the following categories: 
financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss, 
loan receivables, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial item was acquired. Purchases and 
sales of financial instruments are reported as per the transaction date.

reportinG of ConVertible loanS
The convertible loans, which are issued in euros, consists of two com-
ponents: a debt component and an option component. The debt com-
ponent is initially measured at fair value, and thereafter at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method, in accordance with IAS 39. This 
entails that the loan is revalued over its term at nominal value. This reval-
uation is reported as a change in value in the income statement, while 
the coupon interest is reported as an interest expense. The conversion 
right is classified as an imbedded derivative, in accordance with IAS 39. 
The option component is reported as a liability, since the conversion price 
is in a currency that is different from the functional currency. In accord-
ance with IAS 39, the option is measured on a continuous basis at fair 
value through profit or loss in the item Change in value of stocks, etc. 

The value of the option portion is based on the fair value of the convert-
ible. Transaction costs are allocated over the term of the loan and are 
included in the change in value reported in the income statement.

aSSetS and liabilitieS in foreiGn CurrenCy
Transactions, assets and liabilities in foreign currency are translated to 
the functional currency using the exchange rates in effect on the trans-
action date or on the day the items were restated. The Parent Company’s 
functional currency is SEK.

iSSued StoCk optionS
Option premiums received are booked as a liability and are deducted 
from premiums paid upon repurchase. If an issued option expires with-
out being exercised, the premium is recognized as income. Upon exer-
cise of an issued option, the premium increases the exercise price upon 
the sale of shares or reduces the exercise price upon the purchase of shares. 
On the balance sheet date, the market value of issued options is deter-
mined, and the difference between it and provisioned premiums is rec-
ognized in income. The outstanding options are carried on the balance 
sheet as accrued income and accrued expenses, respectively.

hedGinG of fixed intereSt rateS throuGh CaSh 
flow hedGeS
The interest coupon portion is reported as a continuing interest expense, 
while other market value changes of the hedge (the swap) are reported 
directly against the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity, under the 
condition that the hedge is effective.

non-Current aSSetS
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation. 

CaSh and CaSh equiValentS
Cash and cash equivalents include – in addition to cash and bank bal-
ances – short-term financial investments with remaining terms of less 
than three months.

borrowinGS
Borrowings are carried initially at fair value net of transaction costs and 
thereafter at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

penSionS
Pension liability refers to defined benefit pension obligations – all calcu-
lated annually for the Group in accordance with IAS 19 with the assis-
tance of an external actuary. In accordance with UFR 6, defined benefit 
pension plans insured with Alecta are reported as defined contribution 
plans, since Alecta has not been able to provide adequate information. 
Industrivärden has elected at the Group level to utilize the so-called cor-
ridor in reporting actuarial gains and losses.

Short-term deriVatiVe tranSaCtionS and equity 
tradinG
Industrivärden’s short-term trading consists of trading in stock options, 
short-term equity investments and financial instruments coupled to 
short-term equity investments.
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financial risk management
General
The types of financial risks that the Industrivärden Group encounters in 
its business consist primarily of equities risk and – to a limited extent – 
other financial risks in the form of interest rate risk and liquidity risk.

equitieS riSk
Equities risk pertains mainly to share price risk, which is the entirely 
dominant risk in Industrivärden’s business. By share price risk is meant 
the risk of a decline in value caused by changes in prices in the stock mar-
ket. Industrivärden’s active ownership should reduce the relative equi-
ties risk in the portfolio companies and thus also in Industrivärden’s 
portfolio. Moreover, the active ownership role provides good insight 
into the portfolio companies’ operations, external operating environ-
ment and continuing development. Having a mix of varied equities in 
the portfolio reduces volatility and contributes to a more stable return 
over time. 

Industrivärden’s equity investments are made within the parameters 
of the investment rules set by the Board of Directors. New investments, 
divestments and reallocations are tested on a regular basis by a separate 
investment committee made up of the members of the executive man-
agement. Decisions are based on analyses that are presented by the invest-
ment organization. In addition to investments in listed stocks, Industri-
värden also conducts transactions in equity derivatives. The subsidiary 
Nordinvest conducts short-term equity trading within the framework 
of Industrivärden’s strategy. Share price risk can be illustrated as such 
that a 1% change in the price of all listed shareholdings in Industrivärden’s 
equities portfolio as per December 31, 2011, would have affected the mar-
ket value by SEK +/– 600 M. Equities risk also includes liquidity risk, 
which can arise, for example, for a stock that is difficult to sell. Industri-
värden’s equities portfolio consists of listed stocks with good liquidity, 
and thus the liquidity risk is limited.

The option portion of issued convertible loans is reported as a non-
interest-bearing liability and is stated at market value during the term of 
the loans. If the price of Industrivärden Class C shares rises, so does the 
carrying amount of the liability. A price increase of 10% is estimated to 
increase the liability by SEK 195 M and the value of the equities portfo-
lio by SEK 5,700 M. Upon conversion, the liability is transferred from 
both the loan and option portions to shareholders’ equity. The option 
portion does not affect Industrivärden’s net asset value. 

intereSt rate riSk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will vary 
due to changes in market interest rates. The financial instruments that are 
exposed to interest rate risk consist of loans with variable interest rates and 
swap agreements with variable rates. Swap agreements may be used to  
limit interest expenses and to adjust maturities. Swaptions are used to a 
limited extent to limit interest expenses. Industrivärden’s interest rate risk 
and its effect on earnings are judged to be low. At year-end 2011, two inter-
est rate swap agreements were in effect under which a variable interest rate 
was swapped against a fixed interest rate. The agreements pertain to bor-
rowings totaling SEK 2,600 M with a term of approximately three years. 
At year-end 2011 the market value of the interest rate swap agreements was 
SEK –94 M, which is reported directly against shareholders’ equity in the 
consolidated financial statements. A parallel shift up or down in the inter-
est rate curve by 1 percentage point would affect income after financial 
items 2012 by approximately +/– SEK 20 M.

liquidity riSk and refinanCinG riSk
Liquidity risk is the risk of encountering difficulties in accessing liquid 
assets in order to meet obligations associated with financial instruments. 
In accordance with Industrivärden’s finance policy, at any given time the 
Group has a minimum of SEK 2 billion in committed credit facilities at 
its disposal. Refinancing risk is the risk of the Company being unable to 
obtain financing or that financing can only be obtained at a considera-
bly higher cost. In the aim of minimizing refinancing risk, the loans’ 
maturities are distributed evenly over time to lower the likelihood of a 
large portion of loans being refinanced at the same date. Industrivärden’s 
liquidity risk and refinancing risk are judged to be low. With an equity 
ratio of 69% (79%) and an A– rating, Industrivärden has great financial 
flexibility.

CurrenCy riSk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of assets and liabilities will vary 
due to changes in exchange rates. Industrivärden’s currency risk is mainly 
coupled to the outstanding convertible loans of EUR 1,050 M. Most of 
the loans were hedged during the year, however, hedge accounting has 
not been applied. A 1% change in the value of the Swedish krona against 
EUR, all else unchanged, would affect income after financial items 2012 
by approximately +/– SEK 1 M.

Share-baSed inCentiVe proGram
The 2008 Annual General Meeting of AB Industrivärden resolved that 
all employees of the Group would be offered stock options in Industri-
värden at market terms and in other respects in accordance with the 
Board’s complete proposal to the Annual General Meeting. The pro-
gram involved the issuance of a maximum of 1,000,000 stock options 
for 1,000,000 Class C shares and has been secured through a total return 
swap. The offer was fully subscribed. In accordance with the terms of 
the offer, the exercise price per share was set at SEK 106.80. The options 
can be exercised to purchase Class C shares in the Company during the 
period July 1, 2008, through May 31, 2013. A subsidy (long-term varia-

ble salary) for option purchases corresponding to 75% of the option pre-
mium paid (gross, before tax) was paid out in 2011 to employees who 
own options. The Company’s costs for this long-term variable salary 
component are covered by revenue from the sale of the options. No 
options were exercised during the year.

parent Company
Listed shares in the Parent Company are carried at market value. In its 
reporting of pensions, the Parent Company complies with the Pension 
Obligations Vesting Act (Tryggandelagen) and FAR accounting  
recommendation no. 4, Reporting of pension liabilities and pension costs.
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Counterparty riSk
Counterparty risk is the risk of a party in a transaction with a financial 
instrument not being able to meet its obligations and thereby causing 
loss to the other party. Internal rules set by Industrivärden prescribe high 
creditworthiness of counterparties with respect to investments, deriva-
tive transactions, etc., which is why counterparty risk is considered to be 
low.

operational riSkS
Operational risk is the risk of incurring a loss due to defects in internal 
routines and systems. AB Industrivärden’s risk management rests on a 
foundation of internally adopted internal guidelines and rules, and of pol-
icies adopted by the Board of Directors. Important rules include invest-
ment rules and the finance policy. To strengthen internal control, Indus-
trivärden’s external auditors perform a review of interim reports. Matters 
pertaining to confidentiality and information security are of major impor-
tance for Industrivärden and are regulated by internal guidelines.

financing 
orGanization
Industrivärden’s financing and management of financial risks are con-
ducted in accordance with guidelines set by the Board of Directors. 
Industrivärden’s finance function works primarily with financing and 
investment of surplus liquidity.

finanCinG
Industrivärden’s financing is arranged through both short- and long-
term borrowing. The credit facilities give Industrivärden the ability to 
act on attractive investment opportunities at short notice. No part of the 
financing is conditional upon any covenants.

Credit faCilitieS aS per deCember 31, 2011
Amount, 

SEK M
Utilized amount,  

SEK M Term
Convertible loans 8,555 8,555 2015–2017
Bank loans 5,211 4,711 2013–2017
MTN programs 8,000 600 2014
Total long-term borrowing 13,866

Bank loans – 500
MTN programs – 800
Commercial paper 2,000 1,200
Bank overdraft facility 1,000 419
Total short-term borrowing 2,919

In addition, Industrivärden has unutilized committed bank loans totaling  
SEK 2,000 M.

aVeraGe intereSt rate and intereSt duration
The average interest rate for Industrivärden’s debt portfolio as per 
December 31, 2011, was 3.5% (3.8%). The average interest duration was 42 
months (43).

liquidity analySiS
Maturity structure for undiscounted, contracted interest-bearing receiv-
ables and liabilities and derivative instruments along with future inter-
est payments accruing therewith:

SEK M 2012 2013–2016 After 2016 Total
Interest-bearing receivables 7 19 – 26
Interest-bearing liabilities –3,465 –8,972 –7,184 –19,621
Derivative instruments –48 –7 – –55
Total as per December 31, 
2011 –3,506 –8,960 –7,184 –19,650

SEK M 2011 2012–2015 After 2015 Total
Interest-bearing receivables 14 210 – 224
Interest-bearing liabilities –2,774 –9,356 –3,279 –15,409
Derivative instruments –13 –4 – –17
Total as per December 31, 
2010 –2,773 –9,150 –3,279 –15,202

ConVertible loanS
Nominal 

value  
EUR M

Conversion 
price, SEK 

Fixed  
conversion 
price, SEK 

Max. no. of  
additional Class C  

shares, millions
Convertible loan 
2010–2015 500 115.50 10.2258 44.3
Convertible loan 
2011–2017 550 162.00 8.8803 30.1

ChanGe in the Group’S intereSt-bearinG net debt

SEK M
Dec 31, 

2011
Change in 
borrowing

Other  
changes

Dec 31, 
2010

Cash and cash equivalents 57 – 57 0
Interest-bearing receivables 33 – –147 180
Non-current interest-bearing 
liabilities 13,947 2 824 – 11,123
Current interest-bearing 
liabilities 2,923 634 –169 2,458
Interest-bearing net debt 16,780 3,458 –79 13,401
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fair Valuation of finanCial inStrumentS

December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
– Equities 56,903 – – 56,903
Total assets 56,903 – – 56,903

Liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
–  Option portion of conver-

tible loan – 519 – 519
Other current liabilities 
–  Equity derivatives etc. 100 – – 100
–  Derivative instruments 

used for hedging – 94 – 94
– Other derivatives 59 – – 59
Total liabilities 159 613 – 772

December 31, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
– Equities 71,261 5 – 71,266

– Equity derivatives – 15 – 15
– Other derivatives – 5 – 5
Total assets 71,261 25 – 71,286

Liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
–  Option portion of conver-

tible loan – 1,319 – 1,319
Other current liabilities
– Equity derivatives 13 20 – 33
–  Derivative instruments 

used for hedging – 99 – 99
– Other derivatives 21 – – 21
Total liabilities 34 1,438 – 1,472

In accordance with IFRS 7, financial instruments are carried at fair value based on 
a 3-level hierarchy. The classification is based on the input data used in the valua-
tion of the instruments. 

For level 1, quoted prices on an active market are used, e.g., stocks listed on the 
Stockholm Stock Exchange. 

For level 2, other observable market data than quoted prices for the asset or 
liability is used. 

For level 3, fair value is determined using a valuation technique that is based on 
assumptions that are not supported by prices in observable data.

ratinGS
Industrivärden has been assigned international corporate credit ratings 
of A–/Stable/A–2 by Standard & Poor’s, which has also assigned the com-
mercial paper program a credit rating of K–1.

finanCial inStrumentS by CateGory

December 31, 2011

Loan receivables and 
trade accounts recei-

vable

Assets at fair value 
through income 

statement
Derivatives used for 

hedging purposes
Available-for-sale 

financial assets Total
Assets
– Equities  –  56,903     –  –  56,903    
–  Other current receivables excluding 

interim items  36     –  –  –  36    
Cash and cash equivalents  57     –  –  –  57    
Total assets  93     56,903     –       –       56,996    

December 31, 2011

Liabilities at fair  
value through income 

statement
Derivatives used for 

hedging purposes
Other financial  

liabilities Total
Liabilities
– Non-current interest-bearing liabilities   81     –  13,866     13,947    
–  Non-current noninterest-bearing liabilities  527     –  –  527    
– Current interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  2,923     2,923    
–  Other current liabilities excluding interim 

items  140     94     223     457    
Total liabilities  748     94     17,012     17,854    
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notes
amountS in millionS of SwediSh kronor (Sek m) unleSS Stated otherwiSe.

Note 1  Dividend income from stocks  
 

2011 2010
Ericsson 175 153
Handelsbanken 632 505
Höganäs 44 11
Indutrade 75 63
Munters – 11
Sandvik 428 138
SCA 283 262
Skanska 385 182
SSAB 114 53
Volvo 267 –
Group 2,403 1,379

Note 2 Change in value of stocks, etc.   

2011 2010
Ericsson –355 703
Handelsbanken –2,470 691
Höganäs –196 351
Indutrade –722 1,429
Munters – 333
Sandvik –6,664 6,217
SCA –330 733
Skanska –685 385
SSAB –2,965 –505

Volvo –4,263 4,660
–18,650 14,997

Option portion’s change in value,  
convertible loan 1,399 –936
Revaluation of convertible loan –174 –77
Other –79 7
Group –17,504 13,991

For stocks held at both the start and end of the year, the change in value consists 
of the difference in the market value between these dates. For stocks acquired 
during the year, the change in value consists of the difference between the price 
paid and the market value at the end of the year. For stocks sold during the year, 
the change in value consists of the difference between the sales price received and 
the value of the stocks at the start of the year.

Note 3 Net purchases and sales (–) per holding 

2011 2010
Ericsson 220 61
Handelsbanken 728 428
Höganäs 199 –
Indutrade – –4
Munters – –843
Sandvik 724 232
SCA 17 –
Skanska –362 363
SSAB 61 540
Volvo 2,873 1,770
Group 4,461 2,547

Note 4  Short-term derivative transactions and  
equity trading

          Group      Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Short-term equity and derivative 
transactions 120 97 85 79
Short-term equity trading by 
Nordinvest 32 17 – –
Total 152 114 85 79

Note 5 Management costs

2011 2010
Payroll costs, incl. directors’ fees –67 –57
Other1 –38 –37
Group –105 –94

1)  Costs for being listed on the stock exchange, for the Annual Report and interim reports, for 
computer and system support, and for consulting fees.

Note 6 Financial income and expenses
 

            Group        Parent Company
Financial income 2011 2010 2011 2010
Interest income – subsidiaries – – 17 –
Interest income – other 10 19 67 19
Total 10 19 84 19

            Group        Parent Company
Financial expenses 2011 2010 2011 2010
Interest expenses – subsidiaries – – –3 –3
Interest expenses – other –601 –534 –343 –482
Bank charges –2 –7 –2 –7
Total –603 –541 –348 –492

Note 7 Average number of employees  
 

                 2011                         2010
Number of 
employees

Of whom,  
women

Number of  
employees

Of whom,  
women

Parent Company 17 6 18 7
Subsidiaries 4 – 3 –
Total 21 6 21 7
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Note 8 Wages, salaries and other remuneration; social security costs

                           2011                                  2010

Directors’ fees    

Wages, salaries 
and other  

remuneration
Social  

security costs
Of which, 

pension costs Directors’ fees    

Wages, salaries 
and other  

remuneration
Social  

security costs
Of which, pen-

sion costs
Parent Company 4 28 35 22 4 27 26 17
Subsidiaries – 11 5 1 – 9 4 1
Total, Group 4 39 40 23 4 36 30 18

ExeCutiVe manaGement’S CompenSation and penSion CoStS for 2011

Base salary Variable salary
Subsidy to buy 

stock options Other benefits Pension cost
CEO 9.21 0.0 0.9 0.2 12.8
Other members of executive management (4 persons) 9.4 6.5 2.2 0.4 5.1
Total, Group 18.6 6.5 3.1 0.6 17.9

1) The Company’s cost amounts to SEK 3.7 M after deducting SEK 5.5 M for directors’ fees from portfolio companies that were paid in to the Company.

direCtorS’ feeS and exeCutiVe CompenSation
•  The Nominating Committee, which has been appointed in the manner decided 

by the Annual General Meeting, submits recommendations on directors’ fees 
to the Annual General Meeting. In accordance with a resolution by the Annual 
General Meeting in 2011, the Board was paid a fee of SEK 4.0 M (3.6). Of this 
amount, the Chairman received SEK 1.5 M (1.2). Other directors, except for the 
CEO, each received SEK 0.5 M (0.4). No fee is paid for committee work.

•  Compensation of the CEO and other members of the executive management, 
of whom one is an employee of Nordinvest, is based on the guidelines adopted 
by the 2011 Annual General Meeting. The Compensation Committee submits 
a recommendation to the Board on the CEO’s compensation and decides on 
the compensation for the other members of the executive management. The 
members of the executive management receive a base salary, long-term and 
short-term variable salary, standard employment benefits and pension benefits.  
 The CEO received a base salary of SEK 9.2 M (7.2). In accordance with 
the terms of the stock option program, a subsidy to buy stock options in 
the form of long-term variable salary was paid in the amount of SEK 0.9 M 
(–). The CEO is entitled to pension benefits between 60 and 65 years of age 
equivalent to 70% of his average base salary during the three years prior to his 
sixtieth birthday, and to lifetime retirement pension benefits after 65 years of 
age equivalent to 60% of his average base salary during the three years prior to 
retirement, indexed from the date of retirement in the same manner that would 
apply for a pension from Alecta. Pension benefits are earned on a linear basis 
up until retirement and are vested, i.e., they are not conditional with respect 
to future employment. In addition, the CEO is entitled to disability pension 
equivalent to 50% of his base salary the year before such pension occasion, and 
his survivors are entitled to survivorship benefits equivalent to 35% of his base 
salary plus a supplement for children under the age of 20. The cost of defined 
benefit pension obligations in 2011 was SEK 12.8 M (12.4). The Company 
must give two years’ notice if it cancels the CEO’s employment contract. The 
other members of the executive management together received base salary 

of SEK 9.4 M (8.8). The other members of the executive management are 
entitled to long-term and short-term variable salary. The outcome is based on 
the achiev ement of individually set goals as well as on joint targets regarding 
growth in net asset value. Variable salary regarding 2011 amounted to SEK 6.5 
M (5.4) and will be paid out 2012–2013. In accordance with the terms of the 
stock option program, a subsidy to buy stock options in the form of long-term 
variable salary was paid in the amount of SEK 2.2 M (–). The other members of 
the executive management are covered from 65 years by defined contribution 
pension plans, whereby the amount of the pension benefits is dependent on the 
performance of their contracted pension plans. The total cost of the pension 
obligation in 2011 for these executives was SEK 5.1 M (2.0). In the event the 
Company cancels their employment contracts, these executives are entitled to 
two years’ notice.

lonG-term Variable Salary
The 2008 Annual General Meeting of AB Industrivärden resolved that all 
employees of the Group would be offered the opportunity to purchase stock op-
tions in Industrivärden at market terms and in other respects in accordance with 
the Board’s complete proposal to the Annual General Meeting. The program 
involved the issuance of a maximum of 1,000,000 stock options for 1,000,000 
Class C shares and has been secured through a total return swap. The offer was 
fully subscribed. In accordance with the terms of the offer, the exercise price per 
share was set at SEK 106.80. The options can be exercised to purchase Class C 
shares in the Company during the period July 1, 2008, through May 31, 2013.  
A subsidy (long-term variable salary) for option purchases corresponding to 75% 
of the option premium paid (gross, before tax) was paid out in 2011 to employees 
who own options. The Company’s costs for this long-term variable salary com-
ponent are covered by revenue from the sale of the options. No options were 
exercised during the year. 

Note 9 Auditors’ fees

               Group1        Parent Company1

2011 2010 2011 2010
PWC
Audit assignment 0.9 1.0 0.6 0.7
Auditing activities in addi-
tion to audit assignment 0.6 0.3 0.6 0.3
Tax consulting 0.9 0.1 0.9 0.1
Other services 0.2 0.7 0.2 0.7
Total 2.6 2.1 2.3 1.8

1)  Including value-added tax (since holding companies are not subject to value-added tax and thereby 
cannot deduct value-added tax). 

Note 10  Condensed tax computation for the  
Parent Company (see page 51)

2011 2010
Market value of equities portfolio on January 1 47,297 32,265
Less: business-related shares –41,214 –27,204
Basis for standardized income 6,083 5,061

Standardized income 1.5% 91 76
Dividends received during each year 1,502 567
Management costs, net financial items, etc. –341 –563
Dividend paid out2 –1,7381 –1,545
Taxable income –486 –1,466
Tax-loss carryforward from previous years –2,028 –562
Accumulated tax-loss carryforward –2,514 –2,028

1) Proposed by the Board of Directors.
2) Payment is made during the following year, in accordance with a decision by the AGM.

n o t e s
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Note 11 Earnings per share

Income attributable to shareholders in the Parent 
Company

          Group
2011 2010

Net income for the year –15,647 14,870
Change in value of convertible options – 936
Convertible interest – 108
Indexing – 63 
Income attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
Company after dilution –15,647 15,977

EarninGS per Share before dilution
The calculation of earnings per share before dilution is based on reported income 
attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company, amounting to SEK 
–15,647 M (14,870), and a weighted number of shares outstanding, amounting to 
386,271,224 (386,271,224).

EarninGS per Share after dilution
Calculation of earnings per share after dilution is based on reported income 
attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company, amounting to SEK –15,647 
M (15,977), and a weighted average number of shares outstanding after the effect 
of convertible loans, amounting to 386,271,224 (427,506,734). For calculation 
of earnings per share after dilution, the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding is adjusted for the dilutive effect of all potential common 
shares with a dilutive effect – in Industrivärden’s case the convertible debentures. 
For the periods during which the convertible debentures give rise to a dilutive 
effect, they are assumed to have been converted to common shares, and earnings 
are adjusted to eliminate the earnings that the convertibles have generated. For 
2011, there is no difference in the weighted average number of common shares 
that are used to calculate earnings per share before and after dilution, since the 
potential common shares that the convertible loans give rise to do not have 
any dilutive effect. As per December 31, 2011, the number of potential common 
shares that did not have any dilutive effect in 2011 but which would be created 
upon a future full conversion of the convertible loans is 74.4 million.

Note 12 Property, plant and equipment

                                                                Group

 Land and buildings Equipment     
 Total property, plant 

and equipment
Opening cost 29 8 37
Investments during the year 26 0 26
Sales and disposals – – –
Closing accumulated cost 55 8 63

Opening depreciation –8 –2 –10
Depreciation for the year –1 0 –1
Sales and disposals – – –
Closing accumulated depreciation –9 –2 –11

Residual value, 12/31/2011 461 6 52
Residual value, 12/31/2010 211 6 27

1) Of which, land SEK 17 M (3).

Note 13 Equities

2011 2010
Number of shares  Share of capital, %    Share of votes, % Cost   Market value1   Market value1

Ericsson A 80,708,520 2.5 14.3 3,555 5,613 5,748
Handelsbanken A 67,810,927 10.9 11.1 7,155 12,274 14,015
Höganäs B 4,408,046 12.6 10.0 836 937 934
Indutrade2 14,727,800 36.8 36.8 102 2,965 3,417
Sandvik 144,577,252 12.2 12.2 7,277 12,210 18,150
SCA A 43,100,000 10.0 29.1 751 4,349 4,758
SCA B 27,700,000 1,860 2,825 2,729
Skanska A 12,667,500 6.8 23.7 600 1,444 2,012
Skanska B 15,698,806 1,331 1,790 2,269
SSAB A 56,105,972 17.6 22.6 4,107 3,403 6,340
SSAB B 754,985 72 40 7
Volvo A 121,506,918 5.8 15.0 10,769 9,228 10,079
Volvo B 1,261,939 99 95 633
Group’s holdings of equities 38,514 56,903 71,092

Less: associated companies –6,677 –11,159
Less: holdings owned via subsidiaries –22,143 –23,795
Parent Company’s holdings of equities, excluding shares in associated companies and subsidiaries 28,083 36,138

1) The market value corresponds to the book value.
2)  In 2010 Industrivärden issued a total of 358,000 call options to senior executives of Indutrade. Each option entitles the bearer to purchase one share of Indutrade stock for SEK 191.44 during the period 

May 1–October 31, 2013. The total cost of the underlying shares is SEK 2,481 thousand. The total value of the exercise price and recieved premium is SEK 74,697 thousand.

n o t e s
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Note 14 Shares in associated companies 

Parent Company

Reg. no. Domicile
Shareholders’ 

equity Earnings after tax
Share of capital, 

%
Share of votes, 

%
No. shares, 

000s Book value
Skanska 556000-4615 Stockholm 19,583 8,129 6.8 23.7 28.4 3,234
SSAB 556016-3429 Stockholm 30,768 1,560 17.6 22.6 56.9 3,443
Total 6,677

Note 15 Shares in subsidiaries

Reg. no. Domicile
Share  

of capital, % No. shares
Shareholders’ 

equity
Parent Company

Book value
Industrivärden Invest AB (publ) 556775-6126 Stockholm 100 1,000 6,754 1,330
Industrivärden Förvaltning AB 556777-8260 Stockholm 100 1,000 4,911 1,510
Industrivärden Holding AB 556260-3067 Stockholm 100 10,000 2,454 1,500
Industrivärden Service AB 556364-7758 Stockholm 100 100,000 24 42
Investment AB Nils Dacke 556833-0558 Stockholm 100 500 0 0
Perbastra AB 556833-0533 Stockholm 100 500 400 400
Investment AB Promotion 556833-0525 Stockholm 80 80,000 200 8
Floras Kulle AB 556364-8137 Stockholm 100 10,000 92 155
Total 4,945

Note 16 Change in equities

  Group 
  Equities

2011 2010
Opening value 71,092 53,548
Disposals at sales value –6,927 –3,097
Purchases 11,388 5,644
Change in value –18,650 14,997
Closing value 56,903 71,092

Parent Company
Equities Shares in associated companies   Shares in subsidiaries             Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Opening value 36,138 22,094 11,159 10,036 4,545 11,948 51,842 44,078
Disposals at sales value –4,854 –2,241 –1,554 –435 – –1 –6,408 –2,677
Purchases 8,412 4,011 799 1,655 – 8 9,211 5,674
Change in value –11,613 12,274 –3,727 –97 – – –15,340 12,177
Other – – – – 400 –7,410 400 –7,410
Closing value 28,083 36,138 6,677 11,159 4,945 4,545 39,705 51,842

Note 17 Other current receivables

                Group      Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Interest-bearing receivables 33 – – –
Receivables from subsidiaries – – 1,845 901
Prepaid expenses and accrued 
income 68 47 13 47
Other current receivables 3 25 3 24
Total 104 72 1,861 972

    

n o t e s



 4 7a n n u a l  r e p o r t  2 0 1 1

Note 18 Convertible loan

In January 2010 and January 2011, Industrivärden issued two convertible bonds 
with terms of five and six years, respectively, for a combined value of EUR 1,050 M. 
The conversion price was set at premiums in relation to the share price and 
exceeded net asset value at the time of issue. 

Convertible loan 
2010–2015

Convertible loan 
2011–2017

Nominal amount, EUR M 500 550
Conversion price, SEK 115.50 162.00
Fixed translation rate, SEK 10.2258 8.8803
Coupon, % 2.500 1.875
Maximum number of additional 
Class C shares, millions 44.3 30.1

If the dividend yield for Industrivärden’s Class C shares exceeds 3.5% and 4.0%, 
respectively, the conversion prices will be adjusted using a standard formula. Indu-
strivärden has the right to demand conversion after approximately 3.5 years, provided 
that the value of the convertible exceeds the nominal value by 30% for a certain 
period of time. Upon maturity, Industrivärden has an opportunity to convert part 
or all of the loan even if the current share price has not reached the conversion price. 
In such case, the convertible owners would be guaranteed to receive shares/cash 
corresponding to the nominal amount of the loan. The loans mature on February 27, 
2015, and February 27, 2017. 

Note 19 Pensions

The Group’s total reported pension costs amount to SEK 23 M (18), of which SEK 
22 M (17) pertains to the Parent Company. Interest on pension obligations and the 
return on plan assets are reported in the income statement as Financial items. For 
2012, the Parent Company’s pension costs are estimated to amount to approximately 
SEK 25 M.

defined Contribution planS 
The defined contribution plans involve retirement pensions, disability pensions 
and family pensions and entail that premiums are paid on a regular basis during 
the year to independent legal entities. 

defined benefit planS 
Industrivärden’s defined benefit plans involve retirement pensions, disability 
pensions and family pensions, and ordinarily entail an obligation to pay lifetime 
benefits. Earning of pension entitlement is based on the number of years in ser-
vice and increases the employee’s pension entitlement each year. The obligation is 
reported on a continuing basis through profit or loss and as a pension provision 
on the balance sheet. 

The pension liability as per December 31, 2011, was SEK 81 M (68) for the Group 
and Parent Company. The value of plan assets was SEK 4 M (3). Unreported actua-
rial losses amounted to SEK 16 M (4) for the Group and Parent Company.

                 Group
Actuarial assumptions 2011 2010
Discount rate, % 3.4 4.5
Anticipated return on plan assets, % 3.4 5.0
Future salary increases, % 3.4 4.0
Anticipated inflation, % 1.4 2.0

Note 20 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 

              Group      Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Convertible loans 8,555 4,155 8,555 4,155
MTN program 600 800 600 800
Bank loans 4,711 6,100 – –
Pension liability (see Note 19) 81 68 81 68
Total 13,947 11,123 9,236 5,023

Market valuation of current and long-term interest-bearing liabilities as per 
12/31/2011 would increase current interest-bearing liabilities by SEK 19 M (7) 
and non-current interest-bearing liabilities by SEK 259 M (376).

               Group      Parent Company
Maturity dates of loans 2011 2010 2011 2010
–2012 – 1,300 – 800
–2013 2,000 2,000 – –
–2014 1,600 1,000 600 –
– 2015 or later1 10,347 6,823 8,636 4,223
Total 13,947 11,123 9,236 5,023
1) Of which, pension liability 81 68 81 68

Note 21 Non-current noninterest-bearing liabilities

2011 2010
Option portion of convertible loans 519 1,319
Other 8 25
Group 527 1,344

Note 22 Current interest-bearing liabilities

                Group      Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Commercial paper 1,195 1,196 199 1,196
MTN program 800 455 800 455
Bank loan 500 200 – –
Bank overdraft facility 419 429 – 682
Interim payments 9 178 – 93
Liabilities to subsidiaries – – 959 –
Total 2,923 2,458 1,958 2,426

Note 23 Other current liabilities

             Group      Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Interest rate swaps 94 99 94 99
Other current liabilities 324 96 292 93
Accrued interest 52 43 45 41
Other accrued expenses 104 55 52 46
Liabilities to subsidiaries – – – 1
Accounts payable, trade 5 2 4 2
Total 579 295 487 282

Note 24 Obligations to company directors and CEOs

The Group’s non-current interest-bearing liabilities include SEK 75 M (68) for 
pension obligations and similar benefits for current and former company direc-
tors and CEOs. The corresponding amount for the Parent Company is SEK 75 M 
(68), as shown in the item Pension liability in Notes 19 and 20.

Note 25 Related-party transactions

tranSaCtionS with SubSidiarieS
Certain transactions have been made with wholly owned subsidiaries, such as 
rents for premises at market terms and internal loans. The size of these dealings 
as per 12/31/2011 is shown in the balance sheet.

tranSaCtionS with aSSoCiated CompanieS
Stock dividends have been received from certain, listed associated companies. 
Members of the executive management have received directors’ fees from listed 
associated companies, which have been paid to Industrivärden. In May, Indu-
strivärden exchanged 2,432,000 Class A shares in Skanska for 10% more Class B 
shares in Skanska, from L E Lundbergföretagen. Two companies were acquired 
from the Skanska Group during the year, whose operations have been disconti-
nued, at a combined market price of SEK 192 M.

n o t e s
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audit report

report on the annual aCCountS  
and ConSolidated aCCountS
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of AB 
Industrivärden (publ) for the year 2011. The annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts of the company are included in the printed version of 
this document on pages 31–47 and 51.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the President for the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
The Board of Directors and the President are responsible for the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of these annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards , as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act, and for such 
internal control as the Board of Directors and the President determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judg-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts in order to design audit pro-
cedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Board of Directors and the President, as well as evaluating the over-
all presentation of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinions
In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the parent company as of 31 December 2011 and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and the consolidated accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the group 
as of 31 December 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as 
adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. A corporate govern-
ance statement has been prepared. The statutory administration report 

and the corporate governance statement are consistent with the other 
parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the annual meeting of shareholders 
adopt the income statement and balance sheet for the parent company 
and the group.  

report on other leGal and reGulatory  
requirementS 
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have examined the proposed appropriations of the compa-
ny’s profit or loss and the administration of the Board of Directors and 
the President of AB Industrivärden (publ) for the year 2011.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the President
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropriations 
of the company’s profit or loss, and the Board of Directors and the Presi-
dent are responsible for administration under the Companies Act.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable assurance on 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss and on the 
administration based on our audit. We conducted the audit in accord-
ance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.

As a basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appro-
priations of the company’s profit or loss, we examined the Board of 
Directors’ reasoned statement and a selection of supporting evidence in 
order to be able to assess whether the proposal is in accordance with the 
Companies Act. 

As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from liability, in addi-
tion to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, we 
examined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances of the 
company in order to determine whether any member of the Board of 
Directors or the President is liable to the company. We also examined 
whether any member of the Board of Directors or the President has, in 
any other way, acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual 
Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinions
We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the profit be 
appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statutory adminis-
tration report and that the members of the Board of Directors and the 
President be discharged from liability for the financial year.

Stockholm, February 8, 2012 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Anders Lundin
Authorized Public Accountant

to the annual meetinG of the ShareholderS of 
ab induStriVärden (publ), reG. no. 556043–4200
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board of directors

hanS larSSon
B.A.
Born 1942, Stockholm.
Director since 2010.
Chairman of Svenska Handels-
banken. 
Director of Holmen.
Shareholding: 0

fredrik lundberG
M.Sc. Eng., MBA, Honorary 
Doctor of Economics, Honorary 
Doctor of Engineering.
Born 1951, Djursholm.
Director since 2004.
President and CEO of L E Lund-
bergföretagen. 
Chairman of Holmen and Huf-
vudstaden. 
Vice Chairman of Svenska Han-
delsbanken. Director of L E 
Lundbergföretagen, Sandvik and 
Skanska.
Shareholding: 5,260,000;
related entities 50,000,000

anderS nyrén
MBA, U.S. MBA.
Born 1954, Bromma.
President and CEO of Industri-
värden.
Director since 2001.
Chairman of Sandvik. 
Vice Chairman of Svenska Han-
delsbanken. Director of Ericsson, 
SCA, SSAB, Volvo, Ernström-
gruppen, the Stockholm School 
of Economics, and the Stockholm 
School of Economics Association.  
Shareholding: 61,550
Stock options: 125,000

SVerker martin-löf
Doctor of Technology, Honorary 
Ph.D.
Born 1943, Stockholm.
Chairman of the Board since 
2010.
Vice Chairman of the Board 
2002–2010.
Director since 2002.
Chairman of SCA, Skanska and 
SSAB.
Vice Chairman of Ericsson.
Director of Svenska Handels-
banken.
Shareholding: 14,000

ChriStian CaSpar
MBA.
Born 1951, Zurich.
Director since 2011.
Director of Stena and Bonnier.
Shareholding: 0

boel flodGren
J.S.D., Honorary Doctor of Eco-
nomics and Business Administra-
tion, Professor. 
Born 1942, Lund.
Director since 2002.
Director of Brinova and the Uni-
versity of Copenhagen.
Shareholding: 1,900

Stuart Graham
MBA.
Born 1946, Vero Beach.
Director since 2011.
Director of Skanska, PPL Corpo-
ration and Harsco Corporation.
Shareholding: 2,000

Brief descriptions of board members’ professional experience is provided on page 12.
A more detailed description is provided on Industrivärdens website.
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executiVe management

anderS nyrén
MBA, U.S. MBA, born 1954, President and Chief Executive Officer, Industri-
värden employee since 2001.
Shareholding: 61,550. Stock options: 125,000. Anders Nyrén is Chairman of 
Sandvik, Vice Chairman of Svenska Handelsbanken, and a director of Erics-
son, SCA, SSAB, Volvo, Ernströmgruppen, the Stockholm School of Econo-
mics, and the Stockholm School of Economics Association. From 1997 to 2001 
he served as Executive Vice President and CFO of Skanska; from 1996 to 1997 
he was an executive of Nordbanken and member of the executive management; 
from 1992 to 1996 he served as Executive Vice President and CFO of Securum; 
and from 1987 to 1992 he served as CEO of OM International. 

Carl-olof by
B.A., M. Pol. Sc., born 1945, Executive Vice President, Industrivärden 
employee since 1990. 
Shareholding: 34,000. Stock options: 85,000. Carl-Olof By is a director of 
Handelsbanken Region Stockholm, KnowIT and NASDAQ OMX Nordic 
Limited. From 1980 to 1990 Carl-Olof By served as CFO for Investment AB 
Promotion/Bahco.

martin hamner
MBA, born 1964, Chief Financial Officer, Industrivärden employee since 2008.
Shareholding: 5,000. Stock options: 65,000. From 1999 to 2007 Martin Ham-
ner served as Group Controller and Head of Investor Relations for ASSA 
ABLOY, and from 1987 to 1999 he served as an Authorized Public Accountant 
for PricewaterhouseCoopers.

fredriC CalleS 
MBA, born 1966, Head of Short-term Trading, Industrivärden employee since
2003. 
Stock options: 85,000. From 1996 to 2003 Fredric Calles served as Head of Tra-
ding for Alfred Berg Fondkommission; from 1993 to 1996 he served as Assis-
tant Trading Manager for UBS Sweden.

SVerker SiVall
MBA, born 1970, Head of Corporate Communications, Industrivärden 
employee since 1997. 
Shareholding: 5,000. Stock options: 65,000. From 1997 to 2010 Sverker 
Sivall served as Head of Investor Relations for Industrivärden; from 1994 to 
1997 he served as Investment Controller for AstraZeneca.

Committees
Compensation Committee to make recommendations to the Board on the 
CEO’s compensation and to set the compensation for the other members of 
the Executive Management: Sverker Martin-Löf (committee chair) and 
Hans Larsson.

Audit Committee for oversight of the Company’s risk management, 
business management and control, and financial reporting: Industrivärden’s 
Board of Directors excluding CEO Anders Nyrén. Committee chair: Hans 
Larsson.

Nominating Committee for election of the Board of Directors: Sverker 
Martin-Löf (Chairman of the Board), Bo Damberg (the Jan Wallander and 
Tom Hedelius Foundation), Håkan Sandberg (Handelsbanken Pension 
Foundation and Handelsbanken Pension Fund – committee chair), Ulf Lun-
dahl (L E Lundbergföretagen), and Anders Nyberg (SCA pension founda-
tions and others). 

A presentation of the committees’ work can be found in the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 31–33.

Investor Relations Officer 
anderS GuStaVSSon, MBA, born 1981. 
IRO, Industrivärden employee since 2012.
In 2011 Anders Gustavsson served as Business Controller for H&M, and 
from 2007 to 2010 he served as a strategic analyst for Caterpillar.

Investment/team managers
erik röjVall, MBA, born 1973
Investment Manager, Industrivärden employee since 2000.  

peter nyStröm , M.Sc. Eng., born 1960
Team Manager, Industrivärden employee since 2002. Stock options: 40,000

peter SiGfrid, LL.M., M.Sc. L.A., born 1974
Team Manager, Industrivärden employee since 2005. Stock options: 65,000

madeleine wallmark , MBA, born 1982
Team Manager, Industrivärden employee since 2006. Stock options: 25,000

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB.

Chief Auditor: anderS lundin, Authorized Public Accountant, born 
1956, Stockholm. In 2011 Anders Lundin was Chief Auditor of the listed 
companies Industrivärden, AarhusKarlshamn, Electrolux, Husqvarna, Mel-
ker Schörling and SCA, among others.

In 2011 PricewaterhouseCoopers had a total of 88 auditing assignments 
for companies listed on OMX NASDAQ Nordic Stockholm or the NGM 
exchange.

Martin Hamner, Anders Nyrén, Fredrik Calles, Sverker Sivall and Carl-Olof By.
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tax rules for holding  
companies

glossary and definitions

For a company to be defined as a holding company for tax purposes, the 
requirements are that the company is engaged exclusively or almost exclu-
sively in the management of securities, that the company’s stock is spread 
among a large number of shareholders, and that the portfolio of securi-
ties is well distributed. 

intermediarieS 
Holding companies, along with mutual funds, are usually classified as 
intermediaries. The principles of legislation in this area are: 
• that neutrality between direct and indirect ownership requires that the 

intermediary shall not be subject to taxation, 
• that indirect ownership shall not be more advantageous than direct 

ownership, and 
• that taxation shall enable reinvestment of the intermediary’s sharehol-

ding. 

tax ruleS 
The main principles concerning taxation of holding companies are: 
• that interest income is taxable, while interest expenses and management 

costs are tax deductible, 

• that dividends received are taxable, while dividends rendered are tax 
deductible, and 

• that capital gains on sales of stocks are tax exempt, but in return, a stan-
dardized level of income, which amounts to 1.5% of the market value of 
the equities portfolio at the start of the fiscal year, is taxed. The basis for 
calculating the standardized level of income does not include business-
related shares, by which is meant unlisted shares as well as listed shares 
in which the holding corresponds to at least 10% of the number of votes. 
In order for listed business-related shares to be excluded from the stan-
dardized income calculation, they must have been held for at least one 
year. 

tax defiCitS 
Tax-loss carryforwards are deductible and can be accumulated in order 
to be deducted from future taxable surpluses. 

CalCulation of taxeS
See note 10 on page 44.

ChanGe in Value of StoCkS 
For stocks held at both the start and end of the year, the change in mar-
ket value consists of the difference in value between these two dates. For 
stocks sold during the year, the change in market value consists of the 
difference between the sales price of the shares and their value at the start 
of the year. For stocks acquired during the year, the change in market 
value consists of the difference between the cost of the shares and their 
value at the end of the year. 

diSCount to net aSSet Value 
The difference between net asset value per share and the stock price, 
measured in proportion to net asset value. 

diVidend yield 
Dividend per share in relation to the share price on December 31. 

earninGS per Share 
Net income for the year divided by the total number of outstanding 
shares.

intereSt-bearinG net debt 
Interest-bearing liabilities and pension liabilities less cash and cash equiv-
alents and interest-bearing receivables. 

market Value of equitieS portfolio 
The value of the equities portfolio based on market prices on the balance 
sheet date. 

net aSSet Value 
The market value of the equities portfolio less interest-bearing net debt. 

net aSSet Value inCludinG reinVeSted diVidendS 
To calculate the development of net asset value before dividends paid 
out, the dividends paid out by the Company are recalculated to take into 
account the performance of the listed portfolio. This gives a measure of 
how net asset value would have developed if Industrivärden had not paid 
any dividend. 

net debt-equitieS ratio 
Interest-bearing net debt in relation to the market value of the equities 
portfolio. 

total return 
Change in the share price taking into account reinvested dividends. The 
total return is compared against the return index (SIXRX), which indi-
cates the price trend including reinvested dividends for stocks listed on 
the Stockholm Stock Exchange.
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stock market information

Industrivärden aspires to meet strong demands for communication with 
its shareholders and the stock market in general. Information provided 
to the market shall maintain a high standard of quality and be made 
quickly available to all recipients. Through a close dialog with market par-
ticipants, Industrivärden strives to continuously develop and improve its 
communication. 

reportinG dateS 2012
Interim reports will be published on the following dates:
• April 5 for the period January–March
• July 5 for the period January–June
• October 5 for the period January–September

2012 Annual General Meeting 
• Friday, May 4, in Stockholm

information ChannelS
Publications
Interim reports, year-end reports, annual reports and press releases can 
be ordered using any of the following alternatives:
• by post from AB Industrivärden (publ),  

Box 5403, SE-114 84 Stockholm, Sweden
• by phone, at +46-8-666 64 00
• by registration on www.industrivarden.net, or 
• by e-mail at: info@industrivarden.se

Subscribing for publications
Subscriptions for Industrivärden’s press releases, interim reports and 
year-end reports can be arranged through registration of an e-mail 
address on Industrivärden’s website.

Industrivärden online
Industrivärden’s website, www.industrivarden.net, is a central informa-
tion channel for communicating with parties interested in the Company. 
It presents current and historic information about the Company in a 
clear and simple format. 

inVeStor ContaCt
Anders Gustavsson, tel. +46-8-666 64 00,  
e-mail: info@industrivarden.se
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financial calendar 2012

Interim reports will be released   
■ on April 5 for the period January–March,
■ on July 5 for the period January–June,
■ and on October 5 for the period January–September 2012. 
All reports will also be published on Industrivärden’s website: 
www.industrivarden.net

See also the section “Stock market information”, page 52.

The Annual Report is distributed to shareholders who have notifi ed the 
Company that they would like to receive it in printed form. Informa-
tion on the 2012 Annual General Meeting can be found on page 53. 

This Annual Report is a translation of the Swedish original.
 

annual general meeting 2012

time and plaCe
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 2 p.m. on Friday, May 4, 2012, 
at the Grand Hotel, Vinterträdgården room (entrance at the corner of 
Stallgatan/Blasieholmsgatan), in Stockholm, Sweden. The doors will 
open at 1 p.m., and registration will take place until 2 p.m., at which time 
the doors will be closed. Coff ee will be served before the Meeting.

who iS entitled to partiCipate?
To be entitled to participate at the Annual General Meeting, shareholders 
must be listed in the shareholder register printed out by Euroclear Sweden 
AB (formerly VPC) on April 27, 2012, and give notice of their intention 
to participate in the Meeting no later than April 27, 2012. 

how to beCome reGiStered in the Shareholder reGiSter
Shares are registered in the shareholder register maintained by Euroclear 
Sweden in the name of either the owner or the owner’s nominee. Share-
holders who have not arranged to have their shares registered in the 
nominee’s name are registered in their own names. Shareholders whose 
shares are managed by a third party may have chosen to have their shares 
registered in the nominee’s name. In order to be able to participate in the 
Meeting, such shareholders who own nominee-registered shares must 
request in advance that their shares be temporarily registered in their own 
names as per April 27, 2012. Shareholders are advised to contact their 
nominee well in advance before April 27, 2012.

notiCe of attendanCe
Notice of intention to participate at the Meeting can be made using one 
of the following alternatives:

 ■ by post to AB Industrivärden (publ), Box 5403, SE-114 84 Stockholm, 
Sweden 

 ■ by phone at +46-8-666 64 00
 ■ by fax at +46-8-661 46 28 
 ■ by e-mail at agm@industrivarden.se, which requires the Company’s 
confi rmation by e-mail (within 24 hours) that notifi cation has been 
registered

 ■ by fi lling in the form on Industrivärden’s website, 
www.industrivarden.net.

Upon notifi cation, shareholders must indicate their:
 ■ name
 ■ national ID number (or corporate registration number)
 ■ complete postal address and phone number
 ■ where applicable: the number of assistants (max. two)

Notifi cations must be received by the Company no later than April 27, 
2012.

proxieS
Shareholders may exercise their right to participate at the Meeting by 
proxy. Please use the proxy statement provided on the notifi cation form, 
which is available on Industrivärden’s website. Proxy can also be arrang-
ed by providing the application information above for the shareholder as 

well as his/her representative. The proxy statement must also include the 
date and location for signature as well as the shareholder’s signature and 
name printed out. For representation of legal persons by proxy, the proxy 
must be signed by an authorized signatory of the company/organization, 
and a copy of the registration certifi cate, which indicates the company’s/
organization’s authorized signatories, must be attached. Proxy statements 
must be sent in or shown in original.

diVidend
The dividend will be paid to shareholders who are recorded in the share-
holder register on the record date. The Board of Directors proposes May 
9, 2012, as the record date. Provided that the Annual General Meeting 
approves the Board’s proposal, taking into account the so-called three-day 
payment schedule (three business days), this entails that pur chases of 
Industrivärden shares on the day of the AGM, May 4, 2012, will nor-
mally carry rights to the dividend (provided that the pur chase was recor-
ded in the shareholder register on May 9, 2012), and that payment of the 
dividend is expected to take place via Euroclear Sweden on May 14, 2012.

Text: Industrivärden. Design and production: Intellecta Corporate. Photos: Q Image and others. English translation: 
NewStart Communications. Paper: Scandia 2000 White 270g/Galerie Art Silk 130 g. Printing: Ineko
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